
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on 7 April 2022  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 
 

Tuesday, 19 April 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's 

Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 
 

Agenda 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  

SKDC YouTube Channel 

 
1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  

  
 

 

2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 
Minutes of the meeting held on 29 March 2022. 

(Pages 3 - 9) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests  

  
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 

 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 
 
 

4.   Final Scope for the Refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre (Pages 11 - 137) 
  

 
 

 Items for information 
 
 

5.   Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers  
  

 
 

6.   Cabinet's Forward Plan (Pages 139 - 144) 
   



 

 

Minutes 
 

Cabinet 
 

Tuesday, 29 March 2022                   
 

 

The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
 
Cabinet Members present 
Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 
 
Officers  
Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer) 
Richard Wyles (Chief Finance Officer) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Debbie Roberts (Organisational Development and Change Manager) 
Chris Prime (Interim Communications Manager) 
Alex Woolf (Communications and Policy Officer) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 

91. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 

All Cabinet Members were present.  
 

92. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 8 February 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record. 

 
93. Disclosure of Interests 

 
There were no disclosure of interests declared.  

 
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



94. Outcomes of 2021/22 Corporate Plan Review 
 

Purpose of report 
 

The report outlined proposed changes to the action plan within the Corporate Plan 
following a review undertaken alongside the relevant overview and scrutiny 
committees. This included removal of actions where they had been completed or 
deemed no longer fit for purpose, along with the creation of new actions for the 
coming year. 

 
Decision  

 
That Cabinet: 

 
1. Endorses the feedback received through the consultation process and 

approves the revised list of Corporate Plan Actions for ongoing performance 
management. 
 

2. Approves that the relevant overview and scrutiny committees monitor and 
review the new Actions. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected  
 

None.  
 

Reason for decision  

The Council had approved the South Kesteven Corporate Plan 2020-23 on 1 
October 2020. It was agreed by Council that actions, key performance indicators 
(KPIs) and targets be developed by the relevant overview and scrutiny committee, 
which retained oversight of the performance management arrangements at a 
strategic level.  

The Corporate Plan had reached its first anniversary in October 2021. To ensure 
the actions and performance indicators remained fit for purpose, they were 
reviewed. The review incorporated the lessons learnt from management and 
collection of performance information in 2020/21 and the first half of 2021/22, along 
with any changes to the Council’s priorities and the circumstances of service 
delivery within the district.  

Consultation included communication with Members, Corporate Management Team 
and other relevant service managers to improve the quality of the measures and 
report format, as well as the relevance of the measures to the Council’s objectives.  

Cabinet was presented with the report that outlined a revised action plan within the 
Corporate Plan with new actions and the removal of actions due to completion.  

A number of points were made during discussion of the report, which included: 

4



• That funding around maintenance on existing Council homes would be subject 
to change due to the stock condition report.  

• Investment of £52 million to fund new builds for social, affordable housing 
would be a partnership between the Council and private housing association.  

• Further clarity would be provided within the clean and sustainable 
environment priority once the effects of the Environment Act 2021 had been 
implemented.  
 

95. Integrated Housing Management System 
 

Purpose of report 
 

The report provided Cabinet the opportunity to approve the award of a contract to 
meet the Council’s ambition for an Integrated Housing Management System that 
met its current and future business requirements. 

 
Decision  

 
That Cabinet: 

 
1. Notes the content of the report and appendix, detailing the procurement 

process followed in respect of the Integrated Housing Management System, 
as part of the housing improvement plan. 

 
2.     Approves the award for a period five years with an option to extend by a 

further two years to Aareon UK Limited for £776,981 in order to procure its 
housing management system and associated modules. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected 
 

None. 
 

Reason for decision  
 

The Council had a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide 
“Housing that meets the needs of all residents” and to be able to effectively 
administer its social landlord function. In order to fulfil this commitment, the award 
of a new Integrated Housing Management System (IHMS) was required.  

 
A good IHMS system would deliver accurate and up to date information to both staff 
and customers of the Council. Accurate data to a landlord was of the upmost 
importance, the Council must understand its customers, properties and compliance 
responsibilities in real time. This had been reinforced further to the Council through 
the ongoing interactions with the Regulator of Social Housing. Utilising a single 
consistent and ever evolving set of data within one database enabled a consistent 
approach to service delivery. An up to date and current IHMS would provide the 
team with this and should enable them to continuously improve.  

 

5



Upon discussion, Cabinet Members raised some comments: 
 

• Whether the implementation stage time frame was achievable.  

• That the new system would be cost effective and would not cost any more 
than the current system.  

• Whether any dual running of the two systems would take place.  
 

96. Empty Homes Strategy 
 

Purpose of report 
 

The report provided Cabinet the opportunity to adopt an Empty Homes Strategy 
which would provide clarity to residents and ensure South Kesteven District Council 
had a clear framework of the aims, options, and enforcement powers to deal with 
the issue of empty homes within the District and bring empty homes back into use. 

 
Decision  

 
That Cabinet: 

 
1. Notes the content of the report, and the positive current position in relation to 

empty homes within South Kesteven. 
 

2. Approves the Empty Homes Strategy 2022 – 2025. 
 

3.     Delegates to the Director of Housing and Property authority to make minor 
amendments to the Empty Homes Strategy as needed by changes to 
regulation or legislation. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected  
 

None.  
 

Reason for decision  
 

On 23 February 2022, South Kesteven had 374 properties empty between six 
months and two years, and 142 empty for two years or more (a total of 516 empty 
properties for six or more months). This was due to various reasons but, most 
commonly, it was because the occupant had deceased, and the property was going 
through probate.  

 
In comparing the figures with previous years, the total number of empty properties, 
which had been empty for 6 or more months, as at 31 March 2020 was 609, 
whereas, as at 31 March 2021, it was 567 properties. This showed an improved 
performance with a reduction of 51 empty properties.  

 
In comparison to other Lincolnshire areas for 2020, apart from North Kesteven who 
had a rate of 0.84% of total dwellings as empty, South Kesteven had the lowest 

6



amount at 1.04% of total homes. The rate for South Kesteven in 2020 was below 
the East Midlands rate, which was 1.45% of total dwellings and similar to England 
rate of 1.05%.  

 
Clarification was sought on the reasoning behind some Council properties being 
empty for more than 6 months.  

 
97. Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge 

 
Purpose of report 

 
To provide Cabinet with an opportunity to review and consider actions undertaken, 
next steps and timelines associated with the recommendations of the Local 
Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge held in November 2021. 

 
Decision  

 
That Cabinet: 

 
Notes the progress undertaken to date and supports the proposed actions 
scheduled to be undertaken as set out in the Local Government Association 
Corporate Peer Action Plan.  

 
Alternative options considered and rejected  

 
None.  

 
Reason for decision  

 
The Council participated in the Local Government Association Corporate Peer 
Challenge in November 2021, the findings of which were reported to Cabinet at its 
meeting on 8 February 2022.  

 
The findings of the Corporate Peer Challenge were largely positive, highlighting a 
number of strengths the for the Council whilst also identifying some areas for focus 
and improvement across the Council.  

 
Members thanked all officers involved with the Corporate Peer Challenge.  

 
98. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 

 
The Leader of the Council highlighted two Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under 
Delegated Powers: 

 

• Property Maintenance Reserve release of funds by Councillor Robert Reid. 

• Utilisation of the Street Scene Reserve by Deputy Leader of the Council. 
  

 

7



99. Cabinet's Forward Plan 
 

Cabinet noted its Forward Plan.  
 

100. Announcement 
 

The Leader of the Council confirmed that South Kesteven District Council would be 
receiving funding to deliver new changing places toilets. The changing place toilets 
would be equipped with hoists, curtains, adult size changing benches and would 
support users, families and carers to access public amenities with no difficulties.  

 
It was noted that four changing places toilets would be installed across the district, 
locations were yet to be confirmed.  

 
101. Exemption of press and public 

 
Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public 
may be excluded from the meeting during any listed items of business, on the 
grounds that if they were present, exempt information could be disclosed to them as 
defined in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  

 
102. Future ways of working and making the best use of Corporate Assets 

 
Purpose of report 

 
To provide Cabinet with an opportunity to consider proposals in respect of future 
ways of working and making the best use of corporate assets.  

 
Decision:  

 
That Cabinet: 

 
1. Approves the development of proposals, with other public sector bodies where 

appropriate, to bring forward a Customer Service Hub at the vacant ground 
floor premises adjacent to the Cinema Complex Grantham. 

 
2. Identifies the current administrative offices at St Peters Hill Grantham as a 

surplus asset and approved the development of plans for the disposal of the 
asset.  
 

Alternative options considered and rejected  
 

Alternative options considered and rejected were set out in the body of the report. 
 

Reason for decision 
 

In common with most local authorities, the Council faced a need to work differently 
in the post-Covid environment whilst mitigating ongoing medium-term financial 

8



pressures. A summary of issues in terms of office accommodation and new ways of 
working, in the context of effective asset management and mitigation of financial 
risk were set out in the report.  

 
Against the context of the Corporate Plan, the financial position and corporate 
ambition around the accommodation offer to employees, the Council had several 
options to enable the delivery of successful outcomes. These were set out in the 
report, highlighting opportunities and risks associated with each option.  

 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
19 April 2022 

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson 

  Cabinet Member for Leisure 

         
  

Final scope for the refurbishment of Deepings Leisure 
Centre 

To consider the recommendation from 5 April 2022 Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, following a community consultation, on the final scope of refurbishment for 
Deepings Leisure Centre. 

 

Report Author 

Karen Whitfield (Assistant Director - Culture and Leisure) 

 
01476 406080 

 karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

Administrative Two or more Wards 

Reviewed by: Susie McCahon, Leisure Officer 6 April 2022 

Approved by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 7 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson (Portfolio Holder for Leisure) 7 April 2022 

 

Recommendations to the decision makers 

In consideration of the recommendation made on 5 April 2022 by the Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
1. Approves Option D as the final scheme of refurbishment with the proviso that the 

refurbishment works will only commence upon finalisation of the Service Level 
Agreement between South Kesteven District Council and the Anthem Trust. 
 

2. Provides delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the S151 
Officer and Cabinet Member for Leisure, to enter a contractual relationship with the 
preferred design team following a compliant procurement process.  
 

11

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

3. Agrees to receive a further report, within six months, once the procurement process 
has been completed in order to award the refurbishment works to the preferred 
construction contractor.   

12



 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan (2020-2023) recognises the role facilities can play to inspire 

residents to take part in sport and physical activity. Of equal importance is the Council’s 

commitment to providing (directly and in partnership with others) leisure facilities to enable 

all the South Kesteven community to lead healthy lives by participating in a wide range of 

activities. There are four leisure centres in the Council’s portfolio, including the Deepings 

Leisure Centre which is temporarily closed on health and safety grounds.  

1.2 Following the decision to temporarily close Deepings Leisure Centre in July 2021, the 

Council commissioned detailed survey work to fully assess the condition of the leisure 

centre, and the level of capital investment required to bring the facility back into use. 

1.3 Paul Weston Architect and Caston Cost Consultants were commissioned to undertake a 

feasibility study to consider options for the refurbishment of the current leisure centre which 

would extend its life by 25 years, including details of the level of capital investment required. 

1.4 Sport and Leisure Consultancy (SLC) were commissioned to assess the latent demand for 

the leisure centre within a 20-minute drive time, together with the results of the Sport 

England Facility Planning Model, to identify the evidenced level of facilities required in the 

Deepings area. Provision of an operational business plan for the refurbishment options 

identified, was included in the commission. 

1.5 A total of four options were originally costed, ranging from a basic refurbishment which 

would bring the facility back into safe operation, to a full refurbishment and remodelling of 

the facility to satisfy the evidenced demand, and provide the same level of facilities that had 

been identified for a new leisure centre. 

1.6 At an Extraordinary Meeting of the Council on 14 December 2021, it was agreed that the 

Council should proceed, subject to meaningful community consultation, with Option C - a 

full refurbishment and remodelling of the leisure centre. Council approved a budget 

allocation of £10.663m from 2022/23 to provide the required funding for Option C. 

2 Consultation Findings 

2.1 In January 2022, Athene Communications were commissioned to manage an independent 

community engagement consultation on the refurbishment proposals contained in Option 

C. Athene Communications are a highly regarded public relations (PR) and consultancy 

agency located in Peterborough, who specialise in delivering stakeholder engagement and 

consultation for major projects. As a well-connected regional firm, Athene Communications 

were deemed to possess a good knowledge of the local area. 

2.2 The purpose of the consultation was to share information on the refurbishment proposals 

with residents, organisations, and stakeholders within a 20-minute drive time of the facility, 

and to provide a platform for feedback to be received during the consultation process.  The 

aim of the consultation was to: 

- Communicate a clear message to all stakeholders and leisure centre users on what was 

being proposed within the proposed remodelling and refurbishment; 

- Gather and collate all feedback on the proposal; 

- Ensure that feedback was handled professionally and in a timely and consistent manner; 

- Involve key stakeholders including the Member of Parliament (MP), County and District 

Councillors, Parish Councillors and the media. 

13



 

 
 

2.3 The consultation was launched on 31 January 2022, ran for four weeks, and concluded on 

28 February 2022. A copy of the community engagement report produced by Athene 

Communications is included at Appendix One, Appendix Two contains a suite of 

appendices to the consultation report. 

2.4 The consultation was widely promoted to as wide an audience as possible within a 20-

minute drive time radius of the Deepings Leisure Centre. Promotional methods included: 

- Posters placed at key locations and delivered to community facilities and businesses 

across Market Deeping and Deeping St James; 

- A newsletter providing full details on the refurbishment proposal and the Council’s aims 

in developing the plans; 

- A website with information about the proposal; 

- Quarter page adverts placed in the Rutland and Stamford Mercury, Spalding Guardian 

and Peterborough Evening Telegraph during week commencing 31 January 2021; 

- Social media posts shared by the Council’s in-house communications team encouraging 

people to have their say, and; 

- A webinar, to provide the opportunity for residents to register and put their questions 

directly to a panel of representatives.  

2.5 Prior to the commencement of the consultation, in collaboration with the Council, Athene 

Communications developed a stakeholder audit identifying key contacts within the local 

area. This included local ward Councillors, town and parish councils, local community 

groups, schools and over forty sports clubs.  Each received a letter encouraging them to 

take part in the survey.  The letter provided information on the refurbishment proposal and 

included a copy of the newsletter.   

2.6 The dedicated website went live on Monday 31 January 2022, with the landing page 

including details on the proposed remodelling and refurbishment and the newsletter. The 

website invited people to take part in the on-line survey. 

2.7 The survey consisted of three tick box questions which asked respondents for their views 

on the refurbishment and whether they would be likely to use the refurbished centre. The 

fourth question was a free text field where participants were encouraged to express their 

views on the plans or make alternative suggestions. 

2.8 Between 31 January 2022 and 28 February 2022, the consultation website received 1,105 

unique visitors, with 57% of visitors completing the on-line survey. To ensure the 

consultation was accessible for all, paper copies were available for collection from Deepings 

Library, and the leisure centres in Stamford and Bourne. Completed versions were left in 

secure drop boxes. 

2.9 A total of 737 responses to the survey were received, 636 of which were completed on-line, 

and 101 were paper copies. The response rate has been analysed by the Council’s 

Consultation Officer using software which demonstrates the number of responders needed 

to provide statistically significant results for a specific population, and to calculate the margin 

of error on the sample size. 

2.10 Using 2020 estimated population statistics, approximately 310,388 people are within a 20-

minute drive time of Deepings Leisure Centre.  Using the completed number of surveys, this 

demonstrates a confidence rating of 95% in the survey results and the margin for error to 

14



 

 
 

be 3.61%.  Statistically speaking, this means the Council can be confident that 95 out of 100 

individuals would answer the same way, plus or minus 3.61%. 

2.11 Below is a summary of the responses to the three tick box questions and the fourth open 

question:  

Question 1: Did you use Deepings Leisure Centre prior to its temporary closure in 

July 2021 

 

 

A total of 93% of the responders had previously used the leisure centre, with 57% having 

used it on a frequent basis and 36% using it occasionally. 

Question 2: Looking at the proposed remodelling and refurbishment, would you be 

likely to use the centre in the future? 

 

 

A total of 84% of responders confirmed they would use the refurbished leisure centre and 

only 3% confirmed they would not. 

421
57%

263
36%

53
7%

Did you use Deepings Leisure Centre prior to its temporary 
closure in July 2021?

Frequently Occasionally Never

621
84%

23
3% 93

13%

Looking at the proposed remodelling and refurbishment, would 
you be likely to use the centre in the future?

Yes No Unsure

15



 

 
 

Question 3: Which of the facilities do you think you would use (ticking all those which 

apply): 

 

 

Question 4: Do you have any additional feedback you would like to share about the 

proposal? 

When asked for any additional feedback on the proposal the comments or points raised by 

respondents have been included at Appendix Three, the main themes were: 

- Request for the retention of the separate learner pool (23%) 

- Work should be completed sooner or that the local community was missing essential 

facilities (21%) 

- The proposed gym is too large (8%) 

2.12 Appendix Four to this report contains a full breakdown of the comments provided in the 

free text box. 

2.13 In addition to the survey responses, a total of 14 substantive emails were received, together 

with a letter from Sir John Hayes CBE, the MP for South Holland and the Deepings. Details 

of these communications are included in Appendix Two, the letter from Sir John Hayes 

stated that it was imperative the leisure centre should be refurbished as soon as possible to 

provide a range of swimming and sports facilities to the local community, with pricing 

remaining affordable. 

2.14 The webinar took place on Monday 21 February 2022 at 6pm and presented an opportunity 

for interested parties to register and pose questions to the panel on the refurbishment 

proposals. The panel included representatives from the Council, Paul Weston, and David 

Rushton from SLC.  A total of 50 people attended.  The questions and associated responses 

682

331 348

281

4 26 24 28
3 25 27 22

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

a. The 25 metre, six lane
swimming pool.

b. The 80-station health and
fitness gym.

c. The 200-square metre
studios which will cater for a

variety of uses including
fitness classes, meeting

space and parties.

d. The four court 34.5 metre
x 18 metre sports hall.

Which of the following facilities do you think you would use?

Yes No Unsure

16



 

 
 

were collated into a document and added to the website.  A summary of the questions and 

responses has been included in Appendix Two. 

2.15 No letters were received via the freepost address and a total of two telephone messages 

were received via the freephone number, both requesting further information on the 

proposals ahead of the webinar.   

3 Review of Options 

3.1 During the period of community consultation, to ensure that all options had been thoroughly 

investigated, the Council commissioned Paul Weston, Caston Cost Consultants and SLC to 

assess the impact of the retention of the learner pool (this is a new option referred to as 

Option D). 

3.2 Option D would still equate to a full remodel and refurbishment of the existing Deepings 

Leisure Centre, to include: 

- Conversion of the existing squash courts to a ground floor and mezzanine 80-station 

health and fitness gym 

- Conversion of main pool to deck level and refurbishment of the pool hall 

- Retention of learner pool 

- Creation of a 200 square metre mezzanine studio above the learner pool 

- Creation of a 190 square metre studio in the existing gym area  

- Creation of fitness changing at first floor level 

- Creation of a changing village  

- A new entrance and reception area, with small café 

3.3 The facilities included in Option D still meet the evidenced need for leisure facilities in the 

Deepings area, when considering latent demand and the results of the Sport England 

Facility Planning Model. However, the use of the second slightly smaller studio, would be 

limited during periods of school examinations to prevent noise transfer.   

3.4 The previously approved Option C provided a maximum water depth of 1.5 metres, after 

considering the refurbishment of the main pool to deck level and the addition of the 

moveable floor.  In consultation with Swim England and LeisureSK Ltd, it was identified that 

a depth of 1.8 metres should be provided to allow for the teaching of swimming lessons for 

Swim England Learn to Swim Level 6 and above, and also the teaching of lifesaving skills. 

3.5 In consideration of this, Paul Weston and Caston Cost Consultants revisited the plans for 

Option C to establish whether the scheme of refurbishment could be modified to provide the 

additional depth of water required.  It was found that this would be made possible by raising 

the pool hall surround.  This would require ramped access from the changing rooms, with 

the incline in line with building control standards for leisure facilities, and matting inset into 

the floor to prevent slippage.   

3.6 Exempt Appendix Five details a breakdown of the capital costs, business plan and net 

annual cost to the Council of Option C, Option D and Option C2, along with the 10-year 

average revenue business plans for Options C and D.  The business plan for Option C2 

remains the same as Option C. 

17



 

 
 

3.7 On an annual basis the projections show that Option D generates slightly more income.  

However, higher costs are projected due to the additional staffing and utility cost implications 

of retaining the learner pool. 

4 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

4.1 On 29 July 2021, in consideration of the significant health and safety risk to the public and 

staff, the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 

Member for Leisure, took the decision to temporarily close Deepings Leisure Centre using 

the emergency powers available under Article 16 of the Constitution. 

4.2 On 17 August 2021, in consideration of a report on the age and condition of Deepings 

Leisure Centre, Cabinet recommended that the matter should be deferred to an 

extraordinary meeting of the Council at the earliest convenience, and in the meantime the 

leisure centre should remain closed on health and safety grounds. 

4.3 At the subsequent Extraordinary Meeting of Council held on 2 September 2021, Council 

agreed to provide a one-off budget to commission survey work and assess the level of 

investment required to bring the leisure centre back into use.  Council decided a joint 

meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, should consider options for the refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre and 

the associated costs, before making a recommendation to Cabinet on the optimum way 

forward. 

4.4 At the joint meeting of the Scrutiny Committees held on 30 November 2021, Members 

considered the options and recommended to Cabinet that Option C, a full remodel and 

refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre, was the preferred option. 

4.5 On 7 December 2021, Cabinet considered the recommendation from the joint meeting of 

the two Scrutiny Committees and recommended to Council the approval of Option C with a 

budget allocation of £10.663M. 

4.6 Following debate at an Extraordinary Meeting of Council held on 14 December 2021, it was 

agreed that the Council: 

- Noted the feasibility work undertaken to establish options for leisure provision in the 

Deepings; 

- Approved Option C with a budget allocation of £10.663m for leisure facilities to meet the 

local needs in the Deepings area, subject to a meaningful community consultation and 

the inclusion of a financial review; 

- Approved the inclusion of the implications of the borrowing costs associated with Option 

C were included in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy and further work be undertaken 

to ensure financial sustainability; 

- Approved the Cabinet Member for Leisure to call upon the Department for Education 

and the Anthem Trust to resolve the lease of Deepings Leisure Centre to allow 

LeisureSK Ltd and South Kesteven District Council representatives to reopen Deepings 

Leisure Centre as soon as possible. 

4.7 At its meeting of 1 February 2022, the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee proposed, seconded, and agreed that the minutes of the meeting held on 30 

November 2021 be confirmed as a correct record. 

18



 

 
 

4.8 At a further meeting of Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 

on 5 April 2022, Members of the Committee received a report detailing the findings of the 

community consultation and the two further refurbishment options which had been identified 

(Option D and Option C2).   

5 Preferred Option 

5.1 Following debate at 5 April 2022 meeting of Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, Members made a unanimous recommendation to Cabinet that the 

Council should proceed with Option D. 

6 Reason for the Recommendations 

6.1 The Council have previously committed to enter meaningful consultation with the local 

community on the proposed refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre. On behalf of the 

Council, Athene Communications have carried out a robust consultation process which has 

provided an opportunity for the community to comment on the refurbishment proposals and 

offer alternative suggestions. 

6.2 The results of the community consultation demonstrate significant support within the local 

community for the Council to proceed as soon as possible with a refurbishment of Deepings 

Leisure Centre, including the retention of the learner pool within the scheme. 

7 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

7.1 Prior to making any investment in Deepings Leisure Centre, the Council will need to secure 

an Agreement for Lease which details the level of work to be undertaken to Deepings 

Leisure Centre and the timeline for carrying out this work. This will require the approval of 

the Department for Education (DfE).  

7.2 The Council and the Anthem Trust are currently in the process of agreeing the terms of a 

Service Level Agreement (SLA).  This will form part of the Agreement for Lease and detail 

the level of use by the school and the contribution they will provide towards the repair and 

maintenance of the leisure centre. 

7.3 The refurbishment proposals are at a very early feasibility stage. Following a decision on 

the final scheme of refurbishment, work will begin to secure a design team and construction 

partner to further develop the scheme, with a view to commencing work on site as soon as 

possible. 

8 Financial Implications  

8.1 Council has approved Option C - a full refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre.  The 

capital budget allocation has been included in the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan 

and in the budget framework approved by Council on 3 March 2022. 

8.2 The newly presented options provides financial variations to the approved capital outlay and 

changes to the projected operating costs.  The changes to the operating costs are met 

directly by LeisureSK Ltd, as the leisure provider, and not by the Council.  However, the 

changes in the financial operating model of Deepings Leisure Centre may have an overall 

impact on the financial management of the leisure portfolio and therefore the level of 

management fee payable to the Council from LeisureSK Ltd. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

19



 

 
 

9 Legal and Governance Implications  

9.1 The Council has previously received legal advice that, in the absence of any formal 

arrangements, they have been occupying Deepings Leisure Centre as ‘tenants at will’.  As 

such the Council currently has no legal interest in the building. 

9.2 Legal advice and support have now been secured and work is progressing to enable the 

Council and the Anthem Trust to enter into an Agreement for Lease for the refurbishment 

project to progress. This will require agreement by the Department for Education, who are 

positively engaged in the process. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

10 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

10.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has previously been undertaken to assess the impact a 

permanent closure of Deepings Leisure Centre would have on the local community. This 

assessment demonstrated that a permanent closure would negatively impact on all groups 

with protected characteristics who, along with the rest of the previous customers, would not 

be able to undertake activity at Deepings Leisure Centre. 

10.2 As a counter to this negative impact, customers have been encouraged to use the three 

other leisure centres provided by the District Council within the district.  Whilst this may not 

be the preferred option for the previous users, this has helped to mitigate some of the 

impact. 

11 Risk and Mitigation 

11.1 To protect any investment made the Council will require an Agreement for Lease.  Although 

work is progressing positively, until the terms of the agreement have been approved by the 

Department for Education, the risk remains that the Council may be unable to secure a lease 

of Deepings Leisure Centre. 

11.2 Until the refurbishment scheme has been fully approved it has not possible to engage a 

design team or construction partner as the scope of work cannot be altered mid-

procurement. The period of community consultation, although extremely valuable, has 

caused a slippage in the project timeline. It is currently anticipated that work will start on site 

in July 2023. with a 15 to 18-month build.  Every effort will be made to make up any lost time 

during the project, although any further delays in approving the final scheme will 

undoubtedly add further slippage to the project timeline. 

11.3 To ensure the refurbishment proposals are as robust as possible, an element of inflation 

and contingency have been included within the projected costs.  Whilst this allowed the 

Council to predict the likely impact on the Medium-Term Financial Plan, the project is at a 

very early stage and therefore there can be no certainty around the costs until further design 

work has taken place and the Council has engaged with the marketplace.  Any further delays 

in approving a final scheme carries the risk of project costs increasing. 

11.4 Issues around construction costs and the availability of materials and labour nationally are 

well-documented and continue to be of concern. Until the project is at the appropriate stage, 

it has not been possible to test the market to assess the current situation. 

11.5 The business plans for Option C, D and C2 are based upon evidenced latent demand in the 

Deepings area within a 20-minute drive time, including an assessment of known competition 

20



 

 
 

in the area. There remains a risk that a competing facility could open which would have a 

prejudicial impact on the projected income. 

11.6 There is asbestos within the existing leisure centre building. On the advice of cost 

consultants, an appropriate allocation for the encapsulation or removal of this has been 

included in the costs for each refurbishment option. 

11.7 The Council are maintaining the security of the existing leisure centre building, with the fire 

and intruder alarms continuing to be serviced and maintained.  Other regular building checks 

are being undertaken, including an inspection by a specialist roofing contractor to assess 

the safety of the existing roof.   

11.8 As an additional safety measure the Council are currently in the process of draining the two 

pools to remove further risk should anyone gain unauthorised access to the leisure centre. 

11.9 Following the approval of a final scheme by Cabinet, an appropriate Project Risk Register 

will be developed and managed as part of the project. 

12 Community Safety Implications  

12.1 The Council has a statutory duty under health and safety law to ensure that any premises 

and equipment used are safe.  The existing leisure centre building will need to be kept under 

review to ensure the safety of the public, staff and contractors is not compromised. 

13 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

13.1 Previously, the Council’s four leisure centres have accounted for 41.5% of the Council’s 

carbon emissions. The temporary closure of Deepings Leisure Centre will result in a carbon 

saving whilst the centre remains closed. 

13.2 The refurbishment proposals are at early feasibility stage yet already include a single layer 

membrane and insulated deck. This, in combination with the new insulated cladding system, 

will improve the thermal efficiency of the building and contribute towards carbon and 

financial efficiencies.  

13.3 During further stages of design work, opportunities to reduce carbon emissions will be 

explored, with the final design in line with current building standards. 

14 Other Implications (where significant)  

14.1 None. 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 Refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre – Results of Community Consultation, Report 

to Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 April 2022, 

available online at:  

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s33911/Refurbishment%20of%20Dee

pings%20Leisure%20Centre%20-

%20Results%20of%20Community%20Consultation%20Report.pdf 

16 Appendices 

16.1 Appendix One – Report from Athene Communications 

16.2 Appendix Two – Appendices to the Report from Athene Communications 

21

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s33911/Refurbishment%20of%20Deepings%20Leisure%20Centre%20-%20Results%20of%20Community%20Consultation%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s33911/Refurbishment%20of%20Deepings%20Leisure%20Centre%20-%20Results%20of%20Community%20Consultation%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s33911/Refurbishment%20of%20Deepings%20Leisure%20Centre%20-%20Results%20of%20Community%20Consultation%20Report.pdf


 

 
 

16.3 Appendix Three – Summary of free text box responses and suggestions 

16.4 Appendix Four – Detailed breakdown of survey responses and free text box responses 

16.5 EXEMPT Appendix Five– Capital costs, business plan and net impact to the Council of 

Options C, D and C2 

22



1 
 

 

 

Consultation Report 
 

Deepings Leisure Centre 
 
March 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

23



2 
 

 

 

Project: Public Consultation on the Remodelling of Deepings Leisure Centre 

 

Client Name: South Kesteven District Council 

 

Type of report: Consultation Report 

 

Prepared by: Linda Elliott 

 

Date: March 2022 

  

Reviewed by: Kelly Linay 

 

Date: March 2022 

 

  

24



3 
 

Contents 
 

1. Executive summary ................................................................................................................ 4 

2. Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 5 

3. Community engagement and consultation – the approach .................................................. 7 

4. Community engagement and consultation – the delivery .................................................... 8 

5. Results / findings of the public consultation ....................................................................... 13 

6. Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 26 

 

Appendices  

Appendix A – Letter sent to key stakeholders  

Appendix B – List of key stakeholders 

Appendix C – Letter sent to other stakeholders 

Appendix D – List of other stakeholders  

Appendix E – Poster and locations displayed 

Appendix F – Newsletter 

Appendix G – Advert 

Appendix H – Email banner 

Appendix I – Social media strategy and examples of posts 

Appendix J – Media release issued 31 January 2022 

Appendix K – Media release issued 16 February 2022 

Appendix L – Letter with invitation to webinar 

Appendix M – Frequently Asked Questions webinar brief 

Appendix N – Feedback survey 

Appendix O – Substantive emails received 

Appendix P – Letter from Sir John Hayes CBE MP 

25



4 
 

1. Executive summary  

This report provides a summary of the public consultation process undertaken by Athene 
Communications on behalf of South Kesteven District Council on the full remodelling and 
refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre.  

The four-week consultation took place between 31 January 2022 and 28 February 2022. It 
was widely promoted with letters to stakeholders, posters displayed in the local area, 
newsletters placed in Deepings Community Library and Bourne and Stamford Leisure 
Centres, social media posts and adverts in the local press. There was also a project website 
which hosted information about the proposal. People were invited to provide feedback via 
an online survey, a printed version of the survey which was available at Deepings 
Community Library and Bourne and Stamford Leisure Centres, email, Freepost or 
Freephone.  

Whilst a physical meeting was not arranged due to Covid-19 restrictions during the planning 
stage, the engagement included a webinar which was held on Monday 21 February 2022, 
for all stakeholders and members of the community to join and ask questions about the 
proposed remodelling and refurbishment. This was attended by 50 people.  

636 individuals completed the online survey and a further 101 people completed a hard 
copy version of the survey. The survey results showed that 57% of respondents had 
previously used the centre frequently, and 36% had used it on an occasional basis. When 
asked whether they would be likely to use the leisure centre in the future, 84% of 
respondents confirmed that they would be likely to use the new facilities, with 13% saying 
that they were unsure.    
 
When asked which of the proposed facilities respondents would be likely to use: 
 

• 682 respondents selected the 25 metre, six lane swimming pool  
• 348 selected the 200-square metre studios 
• 331 selected the 80-station health and fitness gym 
• 281 selected the four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre sports hall 

 
When asked if they had any additional feedback on the proposal, the main comments/ 
points raised by respondents were: 

• Request for the retention of a separate learner/children’s pool / the proposed 
moveable floor is not needed 

• Work should be completed sooner than three and a half years / essential facilities 
have been missed by the community 

• The proposed 80-station gym is too large 

The breakdown of these and other responses is summarised in Table 2 on page 17.  

26



5 
 

2. Introduction 

Overview 

This report has been prepared by Athene Communications on behalf of South Kesteven 
District Council (SKDC) to summarise its public consultation regarding the proposed 
remodelling and refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre.  

Background of the centre and the proposal 

The centre was opened in 1974 and has historically been a popular and well-used 
community facility. Due to health and safety concerns, the centre was forced to temporarily 
close in July 2021, resulting in the loss of this important asset which sits at the heart of the 
local community. 
 
A significant investment of £10.7 million has recently been approved by SKDC, enabling a full 
refurbishment to improve the current facilities and averting the permanent closure of this 
well-used centre. Four options were explored for upgrading and improving the facility - 
and aligned with the Council’s ambition to invest in high quality leisure amenities across the 
district, ‘Option C’ was selected – a comprehensive refurbishment securing improved leisure 
facilities for the next 25 years.  
 
A modelling exercise has already taken place to explore local needs and with the financial 
investment from the Council, all elements are able to be implemented. The proposal is 
based upon work carried out, including using Sport England’s Facility Planning Model. This 
work has assessed the evidence-based local demand for leisure facilities and has also taken 
into account potential population growth and competing facilities. A meaningful 
consultation was required to ensure the most appropriate facilities are provided for the 
community’s needs, before proceeding with works. 
 
The investment proposal for Deepings Leisure Centre would deliver the look and feel of an 
entirely new leisure centre, retaining only the current building’s structure. The inside would 
be completely transformed, and the exterior would be designed to have a more welcoming 
and attractive presence. It would significantly improve the current facility and secure its 
future for the next 25 years, and includes: 

• A 25 metre, six lane swimming pool offering: 
o a range of water depths suitable for a mix of swimming lessons, lane 

swimming, competitive swimming events and other water-based fitness 
activities 

o a partial moveable floor which would create an area of shallow water space 
which is bigger than the existing learner pool. Amongst other uses, this area 
would be suitable for learn to swim activities and parent and child swimming 

27



6 
 

sessions. The swimming timetable would ensure that other activity within the 
pool at this time complements these activities 

o 150 spectator seats at gallery level 
o easier access for disabled swimmers/users with the water height in line with 

the edge of the pool using a deck-level design. 
• Expanded gym capacity with an 80-station health and fitness gym.  
• Two new 200-square metre studios to cater for a variety of uses including fitness 

classes, meeting space and parties. 
• A four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre sports hall. 
• A modern changing village providing a flexible and family friendly environment with: 

o lockable changing rooms for school groups and families 
o accessible changing facilities for those with disabilities. 

 

 

  

28



7 
 

3. Community engagement and consultation – the approach 

The core objectives underpinning the consultation were to: 

o Present the proposal 

o Gather feedback about the proposal from individuals, stakeholders, 
community groups and clubs within a 20-minute drive of the Leisure Centre  

o Understand any issues and concerns about the proposal and share these with 
SKDC  

To achieve these objectives, the approach to community consultation was delivered in five 
key steps: 

1. Engagement via letter with key stakeholders, community groups and clubs  

2. Promotion of the proposal and the consultation, sharing all feedback 
mechanisms  

3. Webinar  

4. Capture and analysis of feedback and responses 

5. Preparation of the Consultation Report 

  

29



8 
 

4. Community engagement and consultation – the delivery 

This section outlines the activities undertaken as part of community engagement and 
consultation. The consultation took place between 31 January and 28 February 2022.   
 

Engagement and consultation with stakeholders 

Key stakeholder letters 

A letter was sent by email on 27 January 20022 to SKDC councillors and on 28 January 2022 
to other key stakeholders providing full information on the proposal, raising awareness of 
the public consultation, and inviting them to complete the survey. A consultation newsletter 
was also included (see below).  The letter to SKDC councillors was sent by SKDC officials, 
whilst Athene sent the letter to other key stakeholders.   

An example of the letter is attached at Appendix A. A list of recipients is shown in Appendix 
B. 

Letter to other stakeholders  

A letter was sent by email on Monday 31 January 2022 to other identified stakeholders 
about the proposal. Five stakeholders were contacted via the ‘Contact Us’ form on their 
website. The letter included details about the proposal, the website address and a link to 
the online survey.). A copy of the consultation newsletter was also included.  

A copy of the letter is attached at Appendix C.  A list of stakeholders who were contacted is 
attached at Appendix D.  

Promoting the public consultation  

Our aim was to promote the public consultation to ensure as many local people as possible, 
within a 20-minute drive of the leisure centre, were informed about the proposal and able 
to provide feedback. 

Posters  

40 A4 posters were produced to promote the public consultation. These were placed at 
Deepings Community Library, Bourne and Stamford Leisure Centres, and also distributed by 
Athene Communications to local community facilities and businesses across Market Deeping 
and Deeping St James on 31 January 2022. A copy of the poster and a list of the locations it 
was displayed is attached at Appendix E. 

Newsletter  

A four-page consultation newsletter about the proposal and the public consultation was 
produced.  A copy of the newsletter was sent to stakeholders and was included on the 

30



9 
 

website (see below).  Copies were also placed in Deepings Community Library and Bourne 
and Stamford Leisure Centres. A copy of the newsletter is attached at Appendix F.   

Website 

A website was developed with information about the proposal. The site went live on 
Monday 31 January 2022 at https://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/ 

The website presented the main elements of the proposal and invited people to share their 
views via an online survey. It included the aims of SKDC in developing the proposal, 
frequently asked questions and information on the next steps. The consultation newsletter 
was also available on the website.  

Between 31 January 2022 and 28 February 2022, the site received 1,105 unique visitors, 
with most visits taking place between 31 January and 7 February. 57% of visitors completed 
the survey. The graph in Chart 1 below shows when the site visits took place. 

  

Chart 1 Website visits 

The website has been kept live since the consultation started and was updated with details 
about the webinar (see below), a further frequently asked questions brief covering the 
questions raised at the webinar, and information about next steps once the consultation 
closed. 

Local advertising 

 
Quarter-page adverts about the consultation appeared in the Rutland & Stamford Mercury, 
Spalding Guardian and Peterborough Evening Telegraph during the week commencing 31 
January 2022, with the aim of reaching those users within a 20-minute drive of the centre. 
The adverts encouraged people to have their say about the proposal for the remodelling 
and refurbishment of the leisure centre and included the website address, a QR code which 

31

https://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/


10 
 

linked to the online survey and details of where printed copies of the survey could be 
accessed. An example is shown at Appendix G.   

Email banner 

An email signature banner was also shared by SKDC with the leisure team and South 
Kesteven Leisure employees to promote the consultation. An example is shown at Appendix 
H.   

Social media 

A series of social media posts were shared by the SKDC communications team, via the SKDC 
social media accounts, to encourage people to visit the project website and to have their say 
by providing feedback on the proposal. Overall, the Facebook posts about the consultation 
were seen this many times (figure is the number of people reached):  

• Last chance to have your say (23 Feb): 2,600 
• Public meeting invite (21 Feb): 1,100 
• Webinar advert (18 Feb): 1,300 
• Still time to have your say (15 Feb): 1,700 
• Would you use these facilities? (8 Feb): 1,500   

Twitter posts were viewed this many times (figure is the number of times users saw the 
post): 

• Last chance to have your say (23 Feb): 348 
• Public meeting invite (21 Feb): 410   
• Webinar advert (18 Feb): 353   
• Still time to have your say (15 Feb): 485   
• Would you use these facilities? (8 Feb): 336 

A copy of the social media strategy with the schedule for the posts, together with examples 
of the posts, are shown at Appendix I.  

Media Release 

A media release and image about the proposal and the consultation was issued on 31 
January 2022 to the local media. A copy of the media release is shown at Appendix J.  

Webinar 

A webinar about the proposal was held via Zoom from 6.00pm-7.00pm on Monday 21 
February 2022. This was hosted by Kelly Linay (Athene Communications) with panel 
members representing SKDC, Paul Wilson Architects and the Sport, Leisure and Culture 
Consultancy. The webinar was attended by 50 people, and a list of panel participants is 
shown in the table below (Table 1):  

 

32



11 
 

Table 1 Webinar panel participants 

Webinar Name Organisation/ role 
Monday  
21 February 
2022 
18:00-19:00 

Karen Bradford Chief Executive, SKDC 
 

Nicola McCoy-Brown Director of Growth and Culture, SKDC 
Karen Whitfield Head of Leisure and Cultural Services, SKDC 
Paul Weston Architect, Paul Weston Architects 

 
David Rushton Modelling Report author and Director, SLC 

 
Kelly Linay Director of Community Engagement, Athene 

Communications 
 

The webinar was offered after the consultation had been launched and was, therefore, 
promoted via a separate media release and a letter to stakeholders. These were issued on 
16 February 2022. Details about the webinar were also included on the project website. A 
copy of the media release is available at Appendix K and a copy of the stakeholder letter is 
attached at Appendix L. The stakeholder letter was sent to the stakeholders listed in 
Appendices B and D.  

Following the webinar on 21 February, the recording was shared on the consultation 
website so that people who had been unable to attend could view it.  As mentioned above,  
a frequently asked questions brief covering the questions raised at the webinar was also 
added to the website.  This was added on 14 March 2022.  A copy of the brief is attached at 
Appendix M. 

A summary of the key points raised at the webinar is included in Section 5.  

 
Feedback mechanisms  

A number of ways for people to provide feedback were established: 

Online survey  

An online survey was available via the website. The survey consisted of closed (tick box 
options) and one open question (free text field for people to provide comments). The 
questions were the same as those included in the printed survey (see below).  

Printed survey 

A printed version of the survey was available for people to complete at Deepings Community 
Library and Bourne and Stamford Leisure Centres (see Appendix N). The questions were the 

33



12 
 

same as those on the online survey. Completed surveys could be posted in secure drop-boxes 
at each location or returned via the Freepost address.  

Email address 

An email address was available for people to submit queries and comments to: 
contact@deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

Freepost address 

A Freepost address was provided for people to write to: FREEPOST DLCONSULTATION 

Freephone number 

People could also call a Freephone number with their comments: 0800 4703 746. 

Consultation deadline 

The deadline for feedback on the proposal was Monday 28 February 2022.  

  

34

mailto:contact@deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk


13 
 

5. Results / findings of the public consultation  

Key facts 

The key facts from the public consultation include:  

• 737 people responded to the survey: 636 completed it online and 101 completed the 
printed version and returned it via the secure drop-boxes at Deepings Community Library, 
and Bourne and Stamford Leisure Centres 

• A total of 50 people attended the webinar 
• 14 substantive emails about the proposal were received 
• 2 phone calls about the proposal were received 

Webinar 

The key issues and questions raised at the webinar were:  

• Whether additional leisure facilities could be provided in the proposal 
• The amount of time proposed to complete the upgrade 
• Requests for more details on the proposal  
• Requests for more details about the swimming pool design and whether it is fit for the 

community’s needs 
• Accessibility for schools during the day/term-time 

 Key findings from the consultation survey  

The key findings from the survey can be found below. Please note that not every respondent 
completed the open comment question: ‘Do you have any additional feedback you would like 
to share about the proposal?’ and several people answered “no”.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



14 
 

Question 1: Did you use Deepings Leisure Centre prior to its temporary closure in July 
2021? 

 
Respondents were asked to choose from the following options:  

Option 1: Frequently  
Option 2: Occasionally 
Option 3: Never 

Responses are shown below in Chart 2. Figures are shown as well as percentages.  

 
Chart 2 

 

 

  

421
57%

263
36%

53
7%

Did you use Deepings Leisure Centre prior to its temporary 
closure in July 2021?

Frequently Occasionally Never

36



15 
 

Question 2: Looking at the proposed remodelling and refurbishment, would you be likely 
to use the centre in the future? 
 

Respondents were asked to choose from the following options:  

Option 1: Yes  
Option 2: No 
Option 3: Unsure 

Responses are shown below in Chart 3. Figures are shown as well as percentages.  

 
Chart 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

621
84%

23
3%

93
13%

Looking at the proposed remodelling and refurbishment, 
would you be likely to use the centre in the future?

Yes No Unsure

37



16 
 

Question 3: Which of the following facilities do you think you would use? (Please tick all 
that apply) 

Respondents were asked to select from the following facilities, and could select as many as 
applied:  

Option 1: The 25 metre, six lane swimming pool. 
Option 2: The 80-station health and fitness gym. 
Option 3: The 200-square metre studios which will cater for a variety of uses including 
fitness classes, meeting space and parties. 
Option 4: The four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre sports hall. 

Responses are shown below in Chart 4. Figures shown are the number of responses.  

 
Chart 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

682

331 348

281

4 26 24 28
3 25 27 22

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

a. The 25 metre, six lane
swimming pool.

b. The 80-station health
and fitness gym.

c. The 200-square metre
studios which will cater for
a variety of uses including

fitness classes, meeting
space and parties.

d. The four court 34.5
metre x 18 metre sports

hall.

Which of the following facilities do you think you would use?

Yes No Unsure

38



17 
 

Question 4: Do you have any additional feedback you would like to share about the 
proposal? 

This was a free text question and sought open-ended comments. An analysis of the 
responses was undertaken and a summary of the key themes raised is shown in Table 2 
below. 

Table 2 

Summary of comments from respondents  Number of responses  
Learner/children’s pool  
Request for retention of learner/ children's pool  169 
Loss of learner pool will impact on availability/ 
quality of main pool  

25 

Suggest slide in pool for children  3 
80-station gym  
Gym is too large  57 
Rentable studio not needed  5 
Request for daytime fitness sessions 4 
Need more local gyms to avoid monopolising the 
local fitness industry 

1 

Expansion of gym a good idea 1 
General pool feedback  
Moveable floor not needed  35 
Request for longer opening hours for public 
swimming 

23 

Showers/changing facilities must be improved and 
maintained - inclusion of family changing  

11 

Request for competition pool (with starting blocks)  7 
Request for lane pool  6 
150-seater stand should not be included  5 
Pool was too cold before  4 
Request for hydrotherapy pool  3 
Swim England should be consulted about 
refurbishment 

2 

Request for daytime aquafit sessions  2 
Safer surfaces needed to avoid slip risk 2 
Request for family swim times 1 
Support for moveable pool 1 
Consultation process/survey feedback   
Consultation does not ask what facilities the 
community wants  

49 

Proposals not explained in enough detail - graphics 
or visuals should be provided  

20 

Time critical   
Work should be completed sooner than 3.5 years/ 
Pool should open sooner  

68 

Essential facilities have been missed by community  60 
Closure has impacted on children's swimming 
lessons  

20 

39



18 
 

School children need access ASAP 6 
 

General feedback  
General support for proposals  28 
Brand new building should be built rather than 
refurbishment (was promised in the past)  

21 

£10m is too much to spend (of taxpayer money)  14 
Sufficient funding needs to be provided for long-
term maintenance to avoid repeat of what 
happened with old centre  

14 

Retain former layout  7 
Request for more funding at Bourne Leisure Centre 5 
Importance of disabled access  5 
Request for more funding at Stamford Leisure 
Centre 

4 

Request for online booking system (rather than 
phone)  

3 

Proposed facilities not big enough for Deeping 
population 

3 

Concerns about business viability of proposals 3 
General opposition to proposals  2 
Questions over who made the proposals 2 
Refurbishment necessary 2 
Request for extra parking 2 
Request for improved public transport links to the 
pool 

1 

Importance of better ventilation 1 
Price of facilities needs to be affordable 1 
Open spaces adjoining school so classes can 
continue whilst works are happening 

1 

Additional facilities requested  
Request for retention of squash/ badminton courts  27 
Request for retention of café  14 
Request for footballing/ sports pitches (Astro/4G)  10 
Request for hireable event venue  7 
Request for table tennis facilities  3 
Request for performance space in new facility  1 
Request for sprung floor in sports hall  1 
Request for sauna/ steam room 1 
Soft play area  1 
Request for sensory garden  1 
Request for a jacuzzi  1 
Request for climbing wall  1 
Request for indoor surfing  1 
Request for water polo  1 
Request for more children’s activities  1 
Area for children's parties should be kept 1 
Request for cricket nets in sports hall  1 
Separate school changing facility needed 1 

40



19 
 

Heated changing rooms, suitable for women and 
children 

1 

Studios for classes essential 1 
Café should focus on healthy, nutritious food 1 

 

  

41



20 
 

Question 5. Location of respondents 

Survey respondents – both online and hard copy respondents – were asked to share their 
postcode to indicate where they live. Map 1 below displays the locations.  

Map 1 Postcodes of survey respondents 

 

 

  

42



21 
 

Question 6. Please tell us about yourself below, selecting all options that apply to you 

Respondents were asked to select from the following options and could select as many as 
applied: 

• A resident of South Kesteven 
• A parish, town, district or county councillor 
• A local business 
• Representing a club, group or other organisation 
• Other 

Responses are shown below in Chart 5 below. 

 

Chart 5 

Those answering that they represented a club, group or other organisation were asked to 
tell us which one they represented.  The responses to this are summarised below in Table 3. 

Table 3 

Organisation  Number of responses  
Deepings Swimming Club 11 
The Rotary Club  3 
Nutcrackers Badminton Group 2 
A weekly badminton club 2 
Market Deeping Community Primary School 2 
Local Primary School 2 
Baston Cycling Club 1 
Thurlby Scouts 1 
Stamford Knights 1 

640

18 30
42

115

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

A resident of South
Kesteven

A parish, town,
district or county

councillor

A local business Representing a club,
group or other
organisation

Other

Please tell us about yourself below, selecting all options that 
apply to you.

43



22 
 

Deeping Ladies Eight Badminton Club 1 
Evergreen Badminton Group 1 
Explorer Scouts 1 
Roller Disco 1 
Deeping Rangers Football Club 1 
Market Deeping Tang Soo do 1 
The Deepings School & Anthem Schools Trust 1 
Langtoft Primary School 1 
The Deepings School / Deepings Heritage 1 
DSKC 1 

 

Those answering ‘other’ were also asked to specify. The responses to this are summarised 
below in Table 4. 

Table 4 

Category Number of responses  
Parent to children who use the leisure centre  11 
Deeping Gate resident 9 
Live locally but outside of South Kesteven 
district 

8 

Local resident  7 
Member of public 5 
Peterborough resident 4 
Market Deeping resident 4 
User of leisure centre  4 
Spalding resident 2 
Glinton resident 2 
Retired user  2 
Peakirk resident 2 
Regular visitor to the area 2 
Ryhall resident  1 
Stamford resident  1 
Helpston resident  1 
Cambridgeshire resident  1 
South Holland resident 1 
Northborough resident 1 
Maxey resident  1 
Retired and really need a fitness facility 1 
Moving to Deeping St James in the next few 
months 

1 

Grandparent of children who wish to use the 
leisure centre 

1 

Parent of young disabled women 1 
Aunt to a resident of Deeping St James 1 
Family use DLC 1 
Disabled pensioner 1 

44



23 
 

Pensioner user 1 
Ex-employee 1 
Friends of Stamford pool 1 
A swimmer 1 
Swim school user 1 
Fitness instructor (not currently working for 
leisure centres) 

1 

Local primary school teacher 1 
Student at the Deepings School 1 
A concerned resident with little confidence in 
her district council, please prove me wrong and 
provide what locals want! 

1 

Retired female wanting to keep fit and swim in 
nice surroundings with nice changing rooms 

1 

Long standing member of Deeping 1 
School Governor MDCPS 1 
Governor at a local primary school 1 
Me and my partner were international 
triathletes so needed the training facility! 

1 

Would be prepared to support a Table Tennis 
Group 

1 

Husband 1 
Somebody with a brain cell unlike SKDC 1 
Swim England registered Official J Level 2 S 1 

 

Feedback via the consultation email / Freepost address 

An email address was set up to receive people’s queries and comments. This was monitored 
by Athene on a regular basis and replies were sent as appropriate. 14 substantive emails 
about the proposal were received. These emails can be seen at Appendix O.  The key points 
raised via the emails are summarised below:  

General/ timescale: 

• Keen for the refurbishment to go ahead 
• Why is the leisure centre going to be closed for so long? Please open the facilities as 

soon as possible. If the movable floor is going to affect the timescale, please review 
this 

• Concern about the length of time that swimming and other facilities have not been 
available for young people and for local clubs 

• Needs to be modelled for Deepings rather than for another site 
• Query regarding the lease for the building between Lincolnshire County Council and 

SKDC 

45



24 
 

• The refurbishment is given a life of twenty-five years. Would like some assurances 
that alongside this commitment that a precept is placed upon the residents of SKDC 
to provide a new facility in twenty-two years 

• Urge the Council to work with neighbouring authorities to look at the growing 
population and current ageing swimming pool stock.  Urge the Council to ensure all 
the facilities in its control are reviewed for repair works needed and to come forward 
with the affordable, costed plan for a new facility in addition to the current Deepings 
Leisure Centre. With Levelling up funding an opportunity, urge the Council to lobby 
for additional funding to invest in a new leisure facility 
 

Consultation: 

• Concern about the level of consultation  

Swimming pool: 

• The learner pool should remain / should keep the same configuration of the pool as 
there is now  

• Concern about the impact of the proposal to have a moveable floor on the 
availability of the pool for serious and mainstream swimmers- everyone will be 
fighting for the same space 

• Support for the deck-level pool 
• Enquiry about the minimum and maximum depths of the pool, and the current 

depth of the shallow end and deep end of the Deepings pool 
• Enquiry about the moveable floor and safety of children and toddlers  
• Concern about the impact of the removal of the learner pool on space to 

accommodate those who are not in the pool during swimming galas 
• Enquiry about the proposal and whether it meets the needs of competitive 

swimming 
• Urge the Council to consult Swim England as early as possible to consider the plans 

to ensure the refurbishment is indeed “fit for purpose” in their opinion  
• Query the need for a rentable studio which replaces the learner pool as the Leisure 

Centre has had rentable space which has not been used (the old bar area which can 
be split into two rooms, converted squash courts, Welland Room, Sports Hall to 
name a few). What is the supporting business case for this over a fully functional 
learner pool? 

• Hope that Deepings Swimming Club would be able to return to the pool in some 
capacity 

Changing village: 

• Changing village is a great idea but not sure how it will work with mixed senior 
school groups e.g. 15 girls and 15 boys 
 

46



25 
 

Gym station/ studios/ sports hall: 
 
• 80 station-gym is too large/ a 40-station gym would be sufficient 
• The best option is to replace all of the squash courts and have a 2-floor gym / studio 

space over the entire area 
• The four configurable rooms will be a welcome resource within Market Deeping 

 

Other sporting activities / facilities: 

• Concern that there is no provision for less mainstream sporting activities including 
those which were available previously  
 

• Provision of a café is a must and will help create revenue and boost the popularity of 
facilities such as the configurable rooms. Would not like to see a vending machine 
culture which is contrary to the healthy lifestyle being invested in with the 
refurbishment 

• No mention in the consultation document to access the “open” playing fields that 
could previously be booked through the reception of the leisure centre. We hope 
that this will still be possible. 
 

A letter was also sent via email directly to SKDC by Sir John Hayes CBE, the MP for South 
Holland and The Deepings. The letter stated that it was imperative to refurbish the leisure 
centre and provide a range of swimming and sports facilities to the local community, with 
pricing remaining affordable. It also stated that the refurbishment should take place as soon 
as possible with no undue delay and that disabled access should be improved, along with 
including attractive landscaping and sympathetic design. A copy of the letter can be seen at 
Appendix P.  

No letters were received via the Freepost address.  

Feedback via the Freephone number 

A total of two messages were received via the Freephone number. The calls related to 
finding out more detail on the proposal ahead of the webinar.  

 

 

  

47



26 
 

 6. Conclusion 

The consultation has proactively sought to engage and consult with stakeholders and local 
residents within a 20-minute drive of the centre, about the proposal for the remodelling and 
refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre. 

Information about the proposal and the public consultation has been widely promoted and 
people have had an opportunity to provide feedback. The consultation took place between 
31 January 2022 and 28 February 2022 and included a public webinar. 

Overall, 636 individuals completed the online survey on the project website and a further 
101 people submitted a completed hard copy form.  

When asked whether they would be likely to use the leisure centre in the future, 84% of 
respondents confirmed that they would be likely to use the new facilities, with 13% saying 
that they were unsure.    
 
When asked which of the proposed facilities respondents would be likely to use: 
 

• 682 respondents selected the 25 metre, six lane swimming pool  
• 348 selected the 200-square metre studios 
• 331 selected the 80-station health and fitness gym 
• 281 selected the four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre sports hall 

 
When asked if they had any additional feedback on the proposal, the main comments/ 
points raised by respondents were: 

• Request for the retention of a separate learner/children’s pool / the proposed 
moveable floor is not needed 

• Work should be completed sooner than three and a half years / essential facilities 
have been missed by the community 

• The proposed 80-station gym is too large. 

48



Appendices 

Deepings Leisure Centre 

March 2022 

49



Table of Contents 
 

Appendix A – Letter sent to key stakeholders ............................................................................... 1 

Appendix B – List of key stakeholders ........................................................................................... 3 

Appendix C – Letter sent to other stakeholders ............................................................................. 6 

Appendix D – List of other stakeholders ........................................................................................ 9 

Appendix E - Poster and locations  .............................................................................................. 11 

Appendix F - Newsletter ............................................................................................................. 14  

Appendix G – Example advert  .................................................................................................... 18 

Appendix H - Email banner ......................................................................................................... 19 

Appendix I – Social media strategy and examples of posts .......................................................... 20 

Appendix J - Media release issued 31 January 2022 ..................................................................... 23 

Appendix K - Media release issued 16 February 2022 .................................................................. 25 

Appendix L - Letter with invitation to webinar  ........................................................................... 26  

Appendix M - Webinar FAQs brief .............................................................................................. 27  

Appendix N - Feedback survey  ................................................................................................... 36  

Appendix O - Substantive emails received  .................................................................................. 38  

Appendix P – Letter from Sir John Hayes CBE MP  ......................................................................  49 

 

 

 

 

 

50



Appendix A – Letter sent to key stakeholders 

28 January 2022 

Dear Councillor 

Consultation on proposal for Deepings Leisure Centre 

As you will be aware, the Council has been actively considering options for providing leisure 

facilities for the Deepings area following the temporary closure of Deepings Leisure Centre 

in July 2021 due to the condition of the building. In December 2021, the Council approved 

the Cabinet’s recommendation of a £10.7 million investment proposal to carry out a full 

remodelling and refurbishment of the centre, which will significantly improve the current 

facilities and secure its future for the next 25 years. 

Having reached this stage in the development of the proposal, the Council is launching a 

consultation to seek feedback from stakeholders, residents, community groups and 

businesses on the plans. The consultation will run from 31 January to 28 February 2022. 

Athene Communications, a local communications agency specialising in stakeholder and 

community engagement, has been commissioned by SKDC to undertake the consultation on 

its behalf. 

Main proposal features 

The agreed proposal follows work with Sport England to assess the evidence-based local 

requirements and the impact of population changes on these. It will increase the amount of 

time the centre is available for use by the local community, including the use of the 

swimming pool during the day, and deliver the look and feel of an entirely new leisure centre, 

retaining only the current building’s structure.  

The main features of the proposed new facility are: 

• Swimming pool: a reconfiguration of the main pool to provide a 25 metre, six lane

deck level pool with a partial moveable floor which would enable a range of water

depths suitable for a mix of swimming lessons, lane swimming, competitive

swimming events and other water-based fitness activities. The moveable floor would

create an area of shallow water space which is greater than that provided by the

existing learner pool. There would also be 150 spectator seats at gallery level.

• The deck level pool would provide additional benefits in terms of ease of access for

disabled swimmers/users, with the water height in line with the edge of the pool.

• Gym: an 80-station health and fitness gym.

• Studio space: two 200 square metre studios.

• Sports hall: a four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre sports hall.

• Changing facilities: a changing village which would bring the changing facilities up to

modern standards and provide a flexible and family friendly environment. This would

1

51



Appendix A – Letter sent to key stakeholders 

incorporate lockable changing rooms for school groups and families and accessible 

changing facilities for those with disabilities. 

The consultation 

We are inviting views on the proposal from the local community, focusing the consultation on 
those who live or work within a 20-minute drive of the leisure centre. We will be contacting  
community groups and organisations in writing, and promote the consultation in the local 
press to reach those based outside of the immediate Deepings area. Please find enclosed 
with this letter a copy of the newsletter that will be shared across social media channels and 
on the consultation website from 31 January 2022. 

Information will also be published on a dedicated website: 
deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk which will host an online survey where people can share 
their feedback from 31 January 2022.  

Other ways people will be able to provide feedback are through: 

• Visiting Deepings Community Library and completing a printed version of the survey
which can be left in a dedicated mailbox.

• Visiting Bourne or Stamford Leisure Centre and completing a printed version of the
survey which can be left in a dedicated mailbox or returned to Freepost
DLCONSULTATION.

We are also providing an email address Contact@DeepingsLeisure-Consultation.co.uk and 
a freephone number 0800 4703 746 so the community can share any queries they have with 
the consultation team. 

Everyone’s input is valuable before the project proceeds to the next stage, and the project 

team is looking forward to reviewing all the feedback provided. If you would like to provide 

your own comments on the proposals, we would be grateful if you could complete the survey 

on the website deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk or share your feedback with the 

consultation team via email at Contact@DeepingsLeisure-Consultation.co.uk. 

Once all the feedback has been reviewed, a report will be produced on the consultation and 

the next steps will be considered.  

The Council’s current ambition is to start construction on site in January 2023 and for the 

new facilities to be open by January 2025.  

Yours sincerely, 

Kirsty Hughes 

Athene Communications – on behalf of South Kesteven District Council 

2

52



Appendix B – List of key stakeholders 

Title First Name Last Name Organisation Role 

Sir John Hayes MP MP for South Holland and The Deepings 

Title First Name Last Name Lincolnshire County Council Role 

Cllr Martin John Hill OBE Lincolnshire County Councillor Leader of the Council 

Cllr Patricia Anne Bradwell OBE Lincolnshire County Councillor Deputy Leader of the Council 

Title First Name Last Name SKDC Council Role 

Cllr Breda-Rae Griffin Stamford All Saints Chairman of the Council 

Cllr Ashley Baxter Market and West Deeping 

Cllr David Bellamy Isaac Newton 

Cllr Harrish Bisnauthsing Stamford St. Mary's 

Cllr Pam Bosworth Belvoir 

Cllr Robert Broughton Market and West Deeping 

Cllr George Chivers Belmont 

Cllr Louise Clack Grantham Earlesfield 

Cllr Richard Cleaver Stamford All Saints 

Cllr Kelham Cooke Casewick Leader of the Council 

Cllr John Cottier Grantham Barrowby Gate 

Cllr Helen Crawford Bourne West 

Cllr John Dawson Stamford St. John's 

Cllr Phil Dilks Deeping St James 

Cllr Barry Dobson Dole Wood Cabinet member for Leisure 

Cllr Paul Fellows Bourne Austerby 

Cllr Jan Hansen Toller 

Cllr Graham Jeal Grantham St Vincent's 

Cllr Gloria Johnson Stamford St. George's 

Cllr Rosemary Kaberry-Brown Peascliffe & Ridgeway 

Cllr Anna Kelly Bourne West 

Cllr Jane Kingman Bourne Austerby 

3

53



Cllr Philip Knowles Bourne East 

Cllr Matthew Lee Stamford St. Mary's 

Cllr Nikki Manterfield Grantham Springfield 

Cllr Annie Mason Grantham St Vincent's 

Cllr Penny Milnes Loveden Heath 

Cllr Virginia Moran Market and West Deeping 

Cllr Charmaine Morgan Grantham St Vincent's 

Cllr Peter Moseley Aveland 

Cllr Robert Reid Bourne Austerby 

Cllr Kaffy Rice-Oxley Grantham Arnoldfield 

Cllr Nick Robins Castle 

Cllr Penny Robins Glen 

Cllr Susan Sandall Stamford St. John's 

Cllr Ian Selby Grantham Harrowby 

Cllr Jacky Smith Grantham St. Wulfram's 

Cllr Judy Smith Bourne East 

Cllr Lee Steptoe Grantham Earlesfield 

Cllr Judy Stevens Deeping St James 

Cllr Adam Stokes Grantham Springfield Interim Deputy Leader of the Council 

Cllr Ian Stokes Peascliffe & Ridgeway 

Cllr Jill Thomas Deeping St James 

Cllr Rosemary Trollope-Bellew Casewick 

Cllr Sarah Trotter Lincrest 

Cllr Dean Ward Grantham Arnoldfield 

Cllr Hannah Westropp Belvoir 

Cllr Hilary Westropp Grantham Harrowby 

Cllr Amanda Wheeler Stamford St. George's 

Cllr Mark Whittington Grantham Barrowby Gate 

Cllr Jane Wood Viking 

Cllr Paul Wood Viking 

Cllr Sue Woolley Morton 

4

54



Cllr Linda Wootten Belmont 

Cllr Ray Wootten Grantham St. Wulfram's 

Title First Name Last Name Parish Council Role 

Mrs Julie Fortnum Deeping St James Parish Council Clerk 

Title First Name Last Name Town Council Role 

Mr Gail Darnes Market Deeping Town Council Clerk 

5

55



31 January 2022 

Dear Sir or Madam 

Consultation on the proposal for the refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre 

As you may be aware, South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has been actively 

considering options for providing leisure facilities for the Deepings area following the 

temporary closure of the Deepings Leisure Centre in July 2021 due to the condition of the 

building. The Council recently approved a £10.7 million investment proposal to carry out a 

full remodelling and refurbishment of the centre, which will significantly improve the current 

facilities and secure its future for the next 25 years. 

The proposal is based upon detailed work which the Council has undertaken with Sport 

England. This work has assessed the evidence-based local demand for leisure facilities and 

has also taken into account potential population growth and competing facilities. 

Having reached this stage in the development of the proposal, the Council is launching a 

consultation to seek feedback from stakeholders, residents, community groups and 

businesses on the plans. The consultation will run from 31 January to 28 February 2022. 

Athene Communications, a local communications agency specialising in stakeholder and 

community engagement, has been commissioned by SKDC to undertake the consultation on 

its behalf. 

A leisure centre for the Deepings to be proud of 

SKDC is committed to providing leisure facilities which our customers can be proud of, 

enabling them to lead healthy lives by participating in a wide range of activities. We 

appreciate the disruption that the local community has experienced since the closure of 

Deepings Leisure Centre, and the uncertainty there has been about the future of leisure 

provision in The Deepings.  

The investment proposal for the Deepings Leisure Centre would deliver the look and feel of 

an entirely new leisure centre, retaining only the current building’s structure. The inside 

would be completely transformed, and the exterior would be designed to have a more 

welcoming and attractive presence. 

The proposal significantly increases the amount of time the leisure centre would be available 

for use by the local community, including the use of the swimming pool during the day. While 

the centre would continue to be used by The Deepings School, this would be limited to the 

use of the sports hall and playing pitches during the day in term-time.  

6

56

Louise Phillips
Appendix C – Letter sent to other stakeholders



Main proposal features 

The main features of the proposed new facility are: 

• Swimming pool: a reconfiguration of the main pool to provide a 25 metre, six lane

deck level pool with a partial moveable floor which would enable a range of water

depths suitable for a mix of swimming lessons, lane swimming, competitive

swimming events and other water-based fitness activities. The moveable floor would

create an area of shallow water space which is greater than that provided by the

existing learner pool. There would also be 150 spectator seats at gallery level.

• The deck level pool would provide additional benefits in terms of ease of access for

disabled swimmers/users, with the water height in line with the edge of the pool .

• Gym: an 80-station health and fitness gym.

• Studio space: two 200 square metre studios.

• Sports hall: a four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre sports hall.

• Changing facilities: a changing village which would bring the changing facilities up to

modern standards and provide a flexible and family friendly environment. This would

incorporate lockable changing rooms for school groups and families and accessible

changing facilities for those with disabilities.

Have your say 

We would like to invite you to share your views on the proposal. We’d also be grateful if 
you could encourage your students and members of your team to share their feedback 
as it is very important that we hear from the local community on whether the proposal meets 
its needs in enabling and inspiring people to take part in sport and physical activity. 

You can comment by: 

Completing the online survey on the website: deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk or scan the 
QR code below on your mobile. 

Completing a printed survey, available at: 

• Deepings Community Library, Wade House, 86 High Street, Market Deeping, PE6
8ED

• Bourne Leisure Centre, Queen's Rd, Bourne PE10 9DX

• Stamford Leisure Centre, Drift Rd, Stamford PE9 1UZ

Completed surveys can be left in the dedicated mailboxes at the library and leisure centres 
or returned to Freepost DLCONSULTATION. 

If you have any queries, the consultation team can be contacted via email at 
Contact@DeepingsLeisure-Consultation.co.uk or on Freephone 0800 4703 746. 

7

57



Please let us have your feedback by 28 February 2022. 

Next steps 

Once we have reviewed all the feedback provided, we will produce a report of the feedback 

received before considering the next steps.  

Our ambition is to start construction on site in January 2023 and for the new facilities to be 

open by January 2025. 

Yours faithfully, 

Kirsty Hughes 

Athene Communications – on behalf of South Kesteven District Council 

8

58



Appendix D – List of other stakeholders 

Organisation 

Deepings Rugby Union F.C. 

Deepings Community Centre 

Deepings Community Library 

1st Deeping St James Scouts 

Deepings Youth Centre 

Deepings Bowling Association 

The Deepings Lions Club 

Deeping Sports and Social Club 

Coronation Hall 

Market Deeping Cricket Club 

Deeping Tennis Club 

Deeping Rangers F.C. 

Deepings Business Community 

Deeping Community Wellbeing Group 

Active Lincolnshire 

The Deepings Lions Club 

The Rotary Club of The Deepings 

Deepings Round Table 

Deepings Age Concern 

SENSE 

Deeping St James United Charities 

Former Clubs of Deepings Leisure 

Deepings Swimming Club 

Market Deepings Tang So Do 

Roar Stars Football 

Evergreen Badminton 

Waterton Badminton 

Bailey Badminton 

9

59



Tonikai Martial Arts 

Chambers Badminton 

Nutcrackers Badminton 

K W Badminton Club 

Wednesday Angels Badminton 

Wednesday Deepings Ladies Badminton 

Lee Lawes Badminton 

Deeping Ladies Thursday Badminton 

Regal Badminton 

Annabel Murcott Tae Kwan Do 

Deeping Karate Club 

Priory Badminton Club 

On 2 Court Tennis Club 

Milking Nook Badminton 

Flintstone Flyers Roller Hockey 

Apex Badminton 

Park Air Systems Badminton 

Deepings United Football Club 

Local Schools 

Market Deeping Community Primary School 

William Hildyard CoE Primary and Nursery School, Market Deeping 

Linchfield Community Primary School 

Deeping St. James Community Primary School 

The Deepings School 

10

60



Scan this QR code on your 
mobile to complete the survey

Consultation closes on 28 February 2022

REMODELLING AND REFURBISHMENT OF 
DEEPINGS LEISURE CENTRE
To take part in this survey please visit: 
www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk
or pick up a printed copy from Deepings Community Library or Bourne and Stamford Leisure Centres

HAVE
YOUR
SAY

Appendix E - Poster and locations

11
61



Appendix E - Poster and locations 

Name Street PC Notes 

1 Deepings Community Library 2 Douglas Road 

2 Bourne Leisure Centre 

3 Stamford Leisure Centre 

4 Coronation Hall - 16 Halfleet 16 Halfleet  PE6 8DB 

5 St Guthlac's Church - 9 Church St 9 Church St  PE6 8DA 

6 
Market Deeping Town Hall - Market 
Place Town Hall  PE6 8EA 

x3 taken for multiple boards 

7 The Square Pub - 13 Market Place 13 Market Pl  PE6 8EA 

8 
Deeping Stage Hotel - 16 Market 
Place 16 Market Pl  PE6 8EA 

x2 

9 Fillers Sandwich Bar - 9 High Street 9 High St  PE6 8ED 

10 
Market Deeping Antiques & Craft 
Centre - 50-56 High Street 50-56 High St  PE6 8EB 

x2 

11 

Deepings Community Centre & 
Deepings Community Library - 2 
Douglas Road 2 Douglas Rd  PE6 8PA 

12 
The Boundary Fish and Chip shop - 
64 High Street 64 High St  PE6 8BF 

2 in news stand 

13 
The Walnut Tree - 32 Horsegate 

32 Horsegate 
 PE6 
8EW 

14 Co-Op Horsegate x3 

15 
Deeping Baptist Church - 42 Bridge 
St 42 Bridge St  PE6 8HA 

Closed – posted through letterbox 

16 Waterton Arms - 68 Church St 68 Church St  PE6 8HD 

12

62



Appendix E - Poster and locations 

17 
The Deeping Methodist Church - 64 
Church St 64 Church St  PE6 8HD 

Closed – posted through letterbox 

18 
Priory Church of St James - Church 
Gate Church Gate  PE6 8NP 

Closed – posted through letterbox 

19 
Our Lady of Lincoln & St Guthlac RC 
Church - Deeping St James 

Deeping St 
James  PE6 8PX 

Closed – posted through letterbox 

20 
Sam's Convenience Store & Post 
Office - 1A Rycroft Avenue 1A Rycroft Ave  PE6 8NT 

21 
Open Door Baptist Church - 5 
Spalding Rd 5 Spalding Rd  PE6 8NJ 

Closed – posted through letterbox 

22 The Deepings School - Park Road Park Rd  PE6 8NF 

23 
Linchfield Community Primary 
School - Crowson Way Crowson Way  PE6 8EY 

24 
Market Deeping Post Office - 88a 
Godsey Lane 88a Godsey Ln  PE6 8HY 

13

63



31 January - 28 February 2022

Public
consultation
On the remodelling of Deepings Leisure Centre

HaVE
YouR
saY

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has been actively considering options 
for providing leisure facilities in the Deepings following the temporary closure of 
Deepings Leisure Centre in July 2021 due to the condition of the building.

The Council recently approved 
a £10.7 million investment 
proposal for the centre’s full 
remodelling and refurbishment. 
This would significantly 
improve its current facilities 
and secure its future for the 
next 25 years. 

The proposal is based upon 
work carried out, including 

using Sport England’s Facility 
Planning Model. This work 
has assessed the evidence-
based local demand for 
leisure facilities and has also 
taken into account potential 
population growth and 
competing facilities. 

Athene Communications is a 
local agency, specialising in 

stakeholder and community 
engagement and has been 
commissioned by SKDC to 
undertake a consultation on its 
behalf. We are now inviting the 
views of the local community 
on the proposal. It is important 
that we hear what you think - 
everyone’s input is valuable.  

Deepings Leisure Centre Option C: View of main entrance

Appendix F - Newsletter

1464



SKDC is committed to 
providing leisure facilities 
which our customers can 
be proud of, enabling 
them to lead healthy lives 
by participating in a wide 
range of activities. We 
understand the disruption 
that the local community 
has experienced since 
the closure of Deepings 
Leisure Centre, and the 
uncertainty there has been 
about the future of leisure 
provision in the Deepings. 

The investment proposal 
for Deepings Leisure 
Centre would deliver 
the look and feel of an 
entirely new leisure centre, 
retaining only the current 
building’s structure. 

The inside would be 
completely transformed, 
and the exterior would be 
designed to have a more 
welcoming and attractive 
presence.

While the centre would 
continue to be used by 
The Deepings School, 
this would be limited to 
the use of the sports hall 
and playing pitches during 
the day in term-time. The 
proposal significantly 
increases the amount of 
time the leisure centre 
would be available for use 
by the local community, 
including the use of the 
swimming pool during  
the day.

a lEisuRE cEntRE 
foR tHE DEEPings 
to bE PRouD of

Your CounCil’s aims
in developing this proposal for a new leisure 
provision for the Deepings, our aims are to:

l	 ensure that the facilities meet evidence-based
community needs

l	 provide an affordable and financially
sustainable facility

l	 improve energy use and costs – with a focus
on environmental sustainability

l	 provide a facility which the Council and the
community can be proud of for years to come

l	 complement the district’s other three leisure
facilities in Bourne, Stamford and Grantham

Public consultation On the remODeLLing Of Deepings Leisure Centre

15
65



Public consultation On the remODeLLing Of Deepings Leisure Centre

the proposed new facilities
a 25 metre, six lane swimming pool 
offering:

l	 a range of water depths suitable for a
mix of swimming lessons, lane swimming,
competitive swimming events and other
water-based fitness activities

l	 a partial moveable floor which would
create an area of shallow water space
which is bigger than the existing learner
pool. Amongst other uses, this area
would be suitable for learn to swim
activities and parent and child
swimming sessions

The swimming timetable would ensure
that other activity within the pool at this
time complements these activities.

l	 150 spectator seats at gallery level

l	 easier access for disabled swimmers/
users, with the water height in line with
the edge of the pool using a deck-level
design.

Expanded gym capacity with an 80-station 
health and fitness gym.  

two new 200-square metre studios to cater 
for a variety of uses including fitness 
classes, meeting space and parties.

a four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre 
sports hall. 

A modern changing village providing a 
flexible and family friendly environment with:

l	 lockable changing rooms for school
groups and families

l	 accessible changing facilities for those
with disabilities.

l	 25 METrE, SIx LAnE
 SWIMMInG PooL

l	 ExPAnDED GYM CAPACITY

l	 2 nEW STUDIoS

l	 FoUr CoUrT SPorTS HALL

l	 MoDErn CHAnGInG VILLAGE

16
66



Have your say
It is very important that we hear from the local community on whether these proposals will 
meet your needs in enabling and inspiring you to take part in sport and physical activity.

completed surveys can be left in the dedicated mailboxes
at the library and leisure centres or returned to

freepost Dlconsultation

You can commEnt bY:

completing the online survey on the website:
www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

completing a printed survey, available at:
• Deepings Community Library, Wade House, 86 High Street, Market Deeping, PE6 8ED

• Bourne Leisure Centre, Queen’s Rd, Bourne PE10 9DX

• Stamford Leisure Centre, Drift Rd, Stamford PE9 1UZ

PlEasE lEt us HaVE YouR fEEDback bY 28 fEbRuaRY 2022.

once we have reviewed all the feedback provided, we will produce a report 
of the feedback received before considering the next steps. 

our ambition is to start construction on site in January 2023 
and for the new facilities to be open by January 2025. 

If you have any queries, the consultation team can be contacted via 

Email – contact@Deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk or on Freephone 0800 4703 746

next steps

17

67



REMODELLING AND REFURBISHMENT OF 
DEEPINGS LEISURE CENTRE

HAVE
YOUR
SAY

Scan this QR code 
on your mobile to 
complete the survey

Consultation closes on 28 February 2022

To take part in this survey please visit: 
www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk
or pick up a printed copy from Deepings Community Library 

or Bourne and Stamford Leisure Centres

Appendix G – Example advert

1868



19

69

Louise Phillips_1
Appendix H - Email banner



Appendix I – Social media strategy and examples of posts 

Consultation on the remodelling/ refurbishment of DLC 2022 

Please find below a list of the actions that will be undertaken to promote the consultation on the 

proposal to remodel and refurbish the leisure centre in the Deepings. 

31 January 2022  

Web page containing link to survey goes live. 

Press release distributed to local media.  

Opportunity to participate in consultation posted on social media channels: 

Facebook and Twitter 

7 February 2022  

Second posting on social media channels to promote opportunity to participate in consultation. 

21 February 2022 

Third and final posting on social media channels to promote opportunity to participate. 

28 February 2022 

Consultation closes 

Social Media Channels 

Twitter 

First posting  

Have your say 

Athene Communications has been commissioned by SKDC to undertake a consultation on the 

proposal to remodel the leisure centre in the Deepings. 

Please click here to take part in the survey 

LINK TO WEBSITE 

www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

20

70

http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/


Appendix I – Social media strategy and examples of posts 

Second posting 

Would you use the new facilities planned as part of a £10.7million refurbishment of the leisure 

centre in the Deepings? To find out more and have your say, please click here. 

LINK TO WEBSITE 

www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

Third posting 

 There’s still time to have your say on SKDC’s proposal to remodel the leisure centre in the Deepings. 

To take part in the consultation, which is being run by Athene Communications on the Council’s 

behalf, please click here  

LINK TO WEBSITE 

www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

Facebook 

First posting 

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has been actively considering options for providing leisure 

facilities in the Deepings following the temporary closure of Deepings Leisure Centre in July 2021. 

It recently approved a £10.7 million investment proposal for the centre’s full remodelling and 

refurbishment. This would significantly improve its current facilities and secure its future for the next 

25 years. 

Athene Communications has been commissioned by SKDC to undertake the consultation. 

To have your say on this proposal please click here 

LINK TO WEBSITE 

www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

21

71

http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/
http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/
http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/


Appendix I – Social media strategy and examples of posts 

Second Posting 

Would you use the new facilities planned as part of a £10.7million refurbishment of the leisure 

centre in the Deepings? To find out more and have your say, please click here. 

LINK TO WEBSITE 

www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

Third posting  

There’s still time to have your say on SKDC’s proposal to remodel the leisure centre in the Deepings. 

To take part in the consultation, which is being run by Athene Communications on the Council’s 

behalf, please click here  

LINK TO WEBSITE 

www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk 

22

72

http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/
http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/


Appendix J - Media release issued 31 January 2022 

Media release: 31.01.22 

Residents invited to share views on the refurbishment of Deepings 

Leisure Centre 

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is inviting residents, stakeholders, community groups and 

businesses to share their views on the proposed re-modelling and refurbishment of the Deepings 

Leisure Centre. 

The Council has been actively considering options for providing leisure centre facilities following the 

temporary closure of the leisure centre in July 2021 due to the condition of the building.  

The proposal is based on detailed work the Council has undertaken with Sport England which has 

assessed the evidence-based local demand for leisure facilities and the impact of population changes 

on them. 

As a result, the Council has approved a £10.7 million investment proposal for the centre’s full 

remodelling and refurbishment. It would see the current building structure retained and completely 

transform the interior, significantly improving facilities. 

Proposed new facilities include a 25-metre, six-lane swimming pool, offering a partial moveable floor 

making it suitable for swimming of all abilities, competitive swimming events and water-based 

fitness activities. 

Also proposed is a gallery with 150 spectator seats, two multi-use fitness studios, a four-court sports 

hall, as well as expanded gym capacity and a modern changing village.  

Local agency, Athene Communications, specialising in stakeholder and community engagement has 

been commissioned by SKDC to undertake consultation on its behalf. 

A spokesperson at South Kesteven District Council said: “South Kesteven District Council is 

committed to providing leisure facilities which our customers can be proud of, enabling them to lead 

healthy lives by participating in a wide range of activities.  

“We appreciate the disruption that the local community has experienced since the closure of the 

Deepings Leisure Centre, and the uncertainty there has been about the future of leisure provision in 

The Deepings. 

“We are keen to hear everyone’s views, and we would encourage the community to share their 

thoughts by visiting the dedicated website and completing the survey.” 

23
73



Appendix J - Media release issued 31 January 2022 

To find out more about the 
proposal and provide feedback via an online survey, go to: www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk. 

Printed copies of the survey are available at Deepings Community Library, Bourne Leisure Centre, 

and Stamford Leisure Centre. The consultation is running until 28 February 2022. 

Ends 

Contacts for queries about the proposals:  

Linda Elliott - Linda@athene-communications.co.uk 

Kirsty Hughes – Kirsty@athene-communications.co.uk 

24

74

http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/
mailto:Linda@athene-communications.co.uk


Appendix K - Media release issued 16 February 2022 

Media release: 16.02.22 

Stakeholders invited to join webinar on the refurbishment of 

Deepings Leisure Centre 

As part of the ongoing consultation, South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is inviting community 

members to join a webinar to pose their questions about the proposed re-modelling and 

refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre. 

Following the temporary closure of the leisure centre in July 2021 due to the condition of the 

building, the Council has approved a £10.7 million investment proposal for a full remodelling and 

refurbishment programme. The current proposal would see the existing building structure retained, 

however the interior would be completely transformed, providing significantly improved facilities. 

The proposal includes the removal of the learner pool to accommodate two multi-use fitness studios 

which were not included in the leisure centre previously. The 25-metre pool will be refurbished to 

provide a deck level six-lane swimming pool with a partial moveable floor which will create a shallow 

area of water space which is larger than the current learner pool, making it suitable for swimming of 

all abilities, competitive swimming events and water-based fitness activities. The proposals will 

complement the Council’s other local leisure facilities in Bourne and Stamford, which provide 

significant areas of shallow water for children to build water confidence. Also included is a spectator 

gallery with 150 spectator seats, a four-court sports hall, an expanded gym capacity and a modern 

changing village.  

To date, the consultation has attracted a great number of responses.  A webinar has been arranged 

to allow stakeholders and residents to raise any questions or queries to the Council. 

The webinar is taking place on Monday 21 February from 6pm – 7pm. To join, please register using 

the following link: https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_QWKBTPOhT7Kiel305i-GpA. 

To find out more about the proposal and provide feedback via the online survey, please visit: 
www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk. Alternatively, please write to the Council using Freepost DL 
CONSULTATION or call Freephone 0800 4703 746.  

The consultation closes on Monday 28 February. 

Ends  

Media contact for queries regarding the Deepings Leisure Centre proposal: 

Kelly Linay - kelly@athene-communications.co.uk 

25

75

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_QWKBTPOhT7Kiel305i-GpA
http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/
mailto:kelly@athene-communications.co.uk


Appendix L - Letter with invitation to webinar 

16 February 2022 

Dear  

Consultation on proposal for Deepings Leisure Centre 

As you will be aware following our letter last month, the Council has been actively considering 

options for providing leisure facilities for the Deepings area following the temporary closure of 

Deepings Leisure Centre in July 2021 due to the condition of the building. In December 2021, 

the Council approved the Cabinet’s recommendation of a £10.7 million investment proposal 

to carry out a full remodelling and refurbishment of the centre, which will significantly improve 

the current facilities and secure its future for the next 25 years. 

We are now in the process of running a consultation with stakeholders and residents about 

the proposal. As part of the consultation SKDC is inviting community members to join a 

webinar to pose questions about the proposed remodelling and refurbishment of the leisure 

centre.  

The webinar is taking place on Monday 21 February from 6pm-7pm. If you’d like to join, 

please register using the following link:  

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_QWKBTPOhT7Kiel305i-GpA. 

To date we have had a great response to the consultation, with over 550 people having 

completed our online survey.  

Everyone’s input is valuable before the project proceeds to the next stage, and the project 

team is looking forward to reviewing all the feedback provided. If you would like to provide 

your own comments on the proposal, we would be grateful if you could complete the survey 

on the website www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk or share your feedback with the 

consultation team via email at Contact@DeepingsLeisure-Consultation.co.uk.  

Once all the feedback has been analysed, a report will be produced on the consultation and 

the next steps will be considered.  

The Council’s current ambition is to start construction on site in January 2023 and for the new 

facilities to be open by January 2025.  

Yours sincerely, 

Kelly Linay 

Athene Communications – on behalf of South Kesteven District Council 

26

76

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_QWKBTPOhT7Kiel305i-GpA
http://www.deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk/
mailto:Contact@DeepingsLeisure-Consultation.co.uk


Appendix M - Webinar FAQs brief 

As part of the Deepings Leisure Centre consultation, South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) invited 
community members to join a webinar to pose their questions about the proposed re-modelling and 
refurbishment of the Deepings Leisure Centre. 

Many valuable questions were asked and as we did not have time to answer all within the one-hour 
live webinar, we have reviewed all questions submitted and created the FAQs below. 

These questions have been split into the following sections: 

• Additional facilities

• Time taking

• Use of proposed space

• Swimming pool

• Changing village

• Gym
• Provision for visitors with disabilities

• Construction impact

• Maintenance

• Lease

• Accessibility during the day
• Consultation process

• Brand new centre

• Sustainability

Please click on the links above to go directly to a particular section. 

Additional facilities 

Q1: What are the plans for the AstroTurf and changing rooms, within the overall plan? 

South Kesteven District Council is working with the Football Foundation to create an application for 
grant funding, to provide a 3G pitch on the Linchfield Road playing fields. This would include a 
refurbishment of the changing facilities there, which we recognise is much needed. 

Q2: Will squash, racket ball and table tennis be available? The squash courts were often empty, but 

they might have been underused due to their declining state. Would it be possible for one to 

remain? Do the other SK venues have squash facilities? 

The proposal includes large flexible spaces so table tennis can be considered. A national trend shows 
a significant decline in the sport of squash, and prior to Deepings Leisure Centre closing the squash 
courts were under utilised. Squash courts are not in the current proposal, however feedback on 
squash facilities have been received as part of the consultation and this will form part of the report 
which will be shared with the Council’s Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
for its consideration. 

27

77



Q3. Will there be hydrotherapy pool? 

No, a hydrotherapy pool is quite specialised and not included in the proposal. 

Q4. Will there be an available space suitable for roller skating? 

This could take place in the sports hall subject to any adverse impact on the floor. 

Time taking 

Q1. Why is it taking 3.5 years to reopen the Leisure Centre? Have options been considered to open 

it sooner as it is a long time for customers to wait and a lot of health & fitness opportunities lost? 

Once the consultation has finished and next steps considered, a design team will be appointed to start 
work on a detailed design. A contractor will also be appointed, and the construction period will take 
between 18 months and two years. At the moment we're estimating one year for the design period 
and planning process but will do our best to make it as rapid as possible. Our ambition is to start 
construction on site in January 2023 and for the new facilities to be open by January 2025. 

Q2. What is the anticipated turnaround time for the report? 

Feedback will be provided to the Council's Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee which is scheduled for the 5th April 2022. This will be a report publicly available and shared 
on the Deepings Leisure Centre consultation website. 

Q3. Why couldn't the pool be reopened (and roof fixed) while waiting for the refurbishment work 

to commence? 

Our aim is to invest time and resource into a fully refurbished centre, to significantly improve the 
current facilities and secure its future for the next 25 years. 

Use of proposed space 

Q1. Will the refurbished four court space have an engineered/wooden sprung floor, rather than the 

existing solid floor? 

The existing floor won't be replaced but will be fully refurbished, therefore, it will not be a wooden 
sprung floor. 

Q2. Will the 3G pitch be suitable for the Bourne Deeping hockey club or will they still need to 

continue using alternative facilities? 

An application for funding is being made to the Football Foundation who will have their own 
specification for the pitch. The proposed pitch will not be suitable for competitive hockey. 

28

78



Q3. Does the four-court sports hall convert into a space which can then be used for entertainment 

purposes, as happened with the previous facility? 

The space could be used for entertainment purposes. 

Q4. Given the lack of venue/meeting space in the Deepings can the two studio rooms be joined as 

one open space, when required, with a flexible dividing partition? 

In the current feasibility study, the large 200 square metre studios are above one another but there is 
a central space, which is currently the small gym, where the café is on the first floor. This could be 
used as a meeting room. 

Q5. What will be the meeting capacity for each room (or combined rooms space)? The Deepings 

currently lack any public space for events - seating. 

Studio sizes have been based on class sizes for aerobics and similar kinds of sessions. They are large 
rooms so we envisage they will be more than ample to be used as meeting spaces. There is also storage 
available within each studio. 

Q6. The former sports centre had a cafe and bar, will the new facility be licensed to serve alcohol? 

The proposal includes a café on the ground floor and while it's unusual practice to include an alcohol 
license on a regular basis, we can apply for temporary licenses on an event basis. 

Q7. Will users have to go through the ground floor cafe to get to the changing rooms, and will the 
cafe facility be a counter type service or just a vending machine area? 

The café area would be adjacent to the entrance and reception area. The project is at a very early 
stage and there are no firm proposals in place yet about the level of service to be offered. 

Q8. Why does the proposed first floor gym only stretch over half the area vacated by the squash 

courts? 

The requirement for an 80-station fitness gym is approximately 400 square metres. At the options 
study stage it was felt that this was best achieved by re-purposing the ground floor of the squash 
courts with a mezzanine at the first floor covering about 50% of the ground floor. This would involve 
less columns obstructing ground floor usage and the double volume space would suit the additional 
height required by some fitness equipment. A detailed structural investigation will need to be carried 
out before firming up any proposals. 

Q9. Why is there an empty space undefined in the proposed refurbishment on the first floor? 

This area would have the flexibility to be used as a meeting space. 

29

79



Swimming Pool 

Q1. How reliable is a moveable pool floor? 

Moveable floors are reliable and have been around for a long time. They're operated by stainless steel 
wires on pulleys and hydraulic rams. They need to be inspected annually for any wear on the cables. 

Q2. The swim school was the most successful in the area due to the number of children we could 

have in the pool at any one time. We could have two or three lessons in the learner pool and up to 

four classes in the main pool, which will no longer be possible by having one pool even with the 

moveable floor. 

The moveable floor increases the capacity for swimming lessons as it creates an area of 125 square 
metres, whereas the current learner pool covers an area of 75 square metres. We are expecting to be 
able to run more swimming lessons and attract more pupils than previously at the centre. 

Q3. What would families with different aged children do if mum wants to lane swim, and dad and 

the baby want to splash in a baby pool? 

If learner swimming is scheduled at the same time as lane swimming, the area for general swimming 
would be reduced from 25 metres to 15 metres. The intention is to programme the pool schedule 
more effectively so there are increased opportunities for swimming lessons and better programmed 
sessions for lane swimming. 

Q4. North Hykeham has a brand-new theatre and also a learner pool. Why do we want less space in 

the pool room than North Hykeham? 

North Hykeham is situated close to Lincoln, and North Kesteven Council used the demographics within 
the range of the facility when refurbishing the North Hykeham leisure centre. No work was carried out 
to the theatre or the sports hall. We have taken into account the local demographics of the Deepings, 
and this proposal is for a more comprehensive scheme than was carried out at North Hykeham. 

Q5. Has the safety of young children been considered when they walk past the majority of the 

swimming pool while they get to the deep end (raised) of the pool? 

Safety would be taken into account as children would be walking past the shallow end. When the floor 
is raised, there won't be a deep end as the moveable floor has the flexibility to rise, creating a depth 
which is shallower than the shallow end. 

Q6. Not one single person would be prepared to take a baby or toddler into the main pool to get 

them used to the pool. The 'moving floor' is not seen as a good idea either as it will restrict swimmers 

from using the length of the pool. Can this be reconsidered? 

30
80



We will consider the feedback from the consultation and analyse the results, before sharing a report 
with the Council’s Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee for its 
consideration. To reconsider the pool configuration would change the whole basis of the business plan 
on which this scheme has been based. SKDC needs to create a sustainable solution which meets as 
many needs as possible, and this proposal will meet the demand for swimming lessons and young 
people for the next 25 years. The solution being proposed is balancing what the Council can afford, 
maximising usage and engagement. 

Q7. Has any consideration been given to building out into the car park, where the boiler house is 
currently, rather than taking away the learner pool? 

Any additional building is expensive, so we have focused on making the existing footprint work better. 
There is a lot of space which wasn't previously well utilised, particularly on the first floor. 

Q8. 150 or 100 spectators? Comment was that it wouldn't cover capacity spectators for swim galas. 

The recommendation from the Sport England Facility Planning Model was to have at least 100 
spectator spaces. The current scheme retains the previously existing 150 seats and the area would be 
refurbished. 

Q9. Has the previous enormous success of the swim school and swim club been taken into account? 

Yes, the swim school and swim club have very much been taken into account, particularly around the 
swimming lessons, as shown on the illustration of the moveable floor. Having this approach will 
increase the capacity of the centre to be able to teach younger children, in particular to swim. The 
way that it could be programmed is during the school term time, for example, between 4pm and 6pm, 
the whole pool will be dedicated to swimming lessons and we just change the depth of the movable 
floor, depending on the levels of the pupils that are swimming. The whole business case is built on 
addressing the demand for swimming lessons in the area, both now and in the future. Similarly with 
the swimming club, the moveable floor will provide a better swimming facility because they'll be able 
to use a pool that is of equal depth without the deep and shallow end. 

Q10. A take-away for this webinar consultation process (which has been great) - re pool moveable 

floor: David and Paul mentioned trends and experiences in other centres. A lot sounds positive, so 

including/publishing evidence from other centres about similar projects (i.e., changing from fixed 

floors to combining learner and large pools) could help reassure many people. 

Typical examples are Victory Swim and Fitness Centre North Walsham; Southend Leisure and Tennis 
Centre; Park Road Pools and Fitness; Queen Mother Pool London; The Peak Stirling; Dollan Aqua 
Centre; Tollcross International Swimming Centre. Further information available from Variopool or 
Wrightfield Pools for example. 

Q11. If a family goes swimming with a good swimmer and a non-swimmer, will one be able to dive 

while the other is able to paddle? 

31

81



The moveable floor raises the floor level at the deep end. This allows greater flexibility of the deep 
end for swimming lessons. As an example, the moveable floor would be raised to allow for swimming 
lessons in this area, and then lowered for any subsequent activity. 

Q12. While lessons are on in the learner pool the adults cannot use the facility which was the biggest 

argument to the local residents not using the facility. 

The pool timetable will make adequate allocation for different sections of the community to use it. 

Q13. What are the anticipated annual financial savings on cost of water/heating assuming like for 

like heating system? 

The utility costs for the centre prior to closing were £229,107 per year. The projections for utilities if 
the teaching pool is removed, based on the same utility tariff, are £163,063 per annum, a 29% 
decrease. This includes other efficiencies offered by the refurbished facility such as improved 
insultation and air recycling. However, it does not include anticipated increase in energy tariffs that 
will be coming through from 1st April 2022. There could be as high as a 70% increase which means the 
need to minimise energy usage will be even greater. 

Q14. What additional cost does the moveable floor add and what is the cost - benefit analysis 
relative to the existing main pool and learner pool? 

In November 2021 the budget cost estimate for the reconfigured main pool with moveable floor was 
£2.48 million and the estimate for the refurbishment of the main pool and learner pool was £2.19 
million. While there is little difference in the capital costs there are revenue considerations including 
additional utility and staffing costs if two pools are to be retained. 

Q15. Why is it going to more economical to heat the whole pool to a raised temperature for babies, 

rather than just a learner pool? Competitive swimmers prefer a much lower temperature than 

toddlers. How would this conflict of preferences be managed? 

There has been a trend to raise water temperature beyond PEWTAG and ASA recommendation to 
increase customer satisfaction. The standards are 28 degrees for competition, 29 degrees for 
conventional main pool use, 31 degrees for swimming lessons and 32 degrees for babies. The water 
temperature control would therefore be managed by the operator to match the programme 
requirements. 

Changing Village 

Q1. Can you explain what a changing village actually is and the privacy? Will there be shared showers 

and toilets etc? 

Everyone would change in a cubicle, and there are individual shower cubicles as well as open shower 
areas. It allows father and daughter to use a family changing area and enables non-binary members 
of the community to have a changing facility. Cubicles would be designed with overhead grills so 
privacy is ensured. 

32

82



Gym 

Q1. What risk is there potentially to the whole scheme if you can't get enough sign up to use of 80 

fitness stations especially with the already present local commercial enterprises. And what about 

the impact to other local gyms by putting an 80-station gym in? 

We have taken into account that we are just coming out of the pandemic and will need to build up a 
client base after being closed for 3 years. We have undertaken an analysis of demand for health and 
fitness and have taken a conservative approach in our projections. There will be residents who won't 
visit the facility as it isn't their type of preferred facility, and there will be people coming who weren’t 
able to use other local gyms. Swimming pools attract local families and it means those families can 
more easily access a range of facilities in one venue. 

Provisions for visitors with disabilities 

Q1. What provision will be provided for disabilities? Will there be a working lift and will there be a 

high standard of changing facilities? 

Provision will be to the highest Sport England standard to meet the needs of members of the 
community with disabilities. The proposal includes a working lift, a dedicated changing room with a 
full hoist, unisex disabled toilets, and better provision for those who are partially sighted. 

Construction impact 

Q1. How will the build be managed to mitigate impact of disruption to the Deepings School and local 

residents, particularly with respect to noise and heavy traffic in the area? 

Before selection, we would expect the contractor to submit a Construction Management Plan, which 
would need to meet the requirements of the Local Authority in terms of noise and be acceptable to 
the adjacent school in terms of access. 

Maintenance 

Q1. Will the council make sure we never get to this situation again? Will the centres of Bourne, 

Stamford and Grantham be looked after and refurbished when appropriate? 

We have been working on a thorough business planning process which also includes the lifecycle costs 
of running the centre, as the Authority does not want to be in this position again. We have an 
affordable business case which takes into account the whole life costing, rather than running the 
facility from year to year. With the right combination of facilities and income generation along with a 
good understanding of the maintenance costs, the Council is in a good position to understand the 
costs for next 25 years and create an affordable solution. 

33

83



Lease 

Q1. Who will own the new leisure centre? 

We are currently negotiating the lease of the leisure centre for 125 years. It will still be owned by the 
County Council, leased to the school and sub-leased to the District Council. 

Accessibility during day 

Q1. Will the school have exclusive use of the sports facilities during the day? 

The school would only have use of sports hall during the day in term-time and use of the sports field 
at Linchfield Road. The other facilities, including the pool would be open to members of the 
community. 

Q2. Will the refurbished four-court facility still be used by the school for examinations etc, hence 

still be restricted for use during some school term times? 

Yes, the school would have the use of this area during the daytime and the Council securing a lease of 
the centre is dependent upon this happening. 

Q3. Thanks for the answer about the school. Does that mean the school will not be using the gym 

facilities at all? 

The school currently have no plans to use the gym facility and did not use the gym when the existing 
centre was open. 

Consultation process 

Q1. Will the proposal be reconsidered following the consultation with the public? 

We are keen to hear everyone’s views and all feedback will be reviewed at the end of the consultation 
before the Council considers next steps. 

Q2. Why are we not seeing other people that have joined the webinar? 

During the webinar, you can only see the panellists on screen. This format allows everyone to ask their 
questions via the Q&A function. When there are many people on a call, this is the best way to manage 
the meeting to enable all participants to share their questions. 

34

84



Brand new centre 

Q1. There was previous suggestion of a completely new sports facility for the Deeping - we 

remember the marvellous advertising banners. How much of that former plan has been migrated 

into the new refurbishment scheme? 

Everything that was identified as being required for a new centre has been incorporated into the 
proposed refurbishment. 

Sustainability 

Q1. If you are so concerned about energy costs, will you be installing solar PV and solar thermal? 

We anticipate that once a design team is appointed, an energy report will be produced which will look 
at all different energy sources before we move forward. We expect that solar energy will be 
considered, looking at lifecycle for the time period. 

Q2. Why can't you put a pool blanket over the learner pool to retain the heat when not in use? 

It's usual practise to place a cover over a pool and we would envisage this will be in place, to save on 
energy costs. 

35

85



31 January - 28 February 2022

Public consultation

suRVEY
On the remodelling of Deepings Leisure Centre

Thank you for participating in the consultation about the proposed re-modelling 
and refurbishment of the Deepings Leisure Centre. 

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has been actively considering options for providing leisure 
facilities in the Deepings following the temporary closure of the centre in July 2021 due to the 
condition of the building.

The Council recently approved a £10.7 million investment proposal for the centre’s full remodelling 
and refurbishment. This would significantly improve its current facilities and secure its future for the 
next 25 years. 

The proposal is based upon detailed work which the Council has undertaken with Sport England. 
This work has assessed the evidence-based local demand for leisure facilities and has also taken 
into account potential population growth and competing facilities. 

Athene Communications, a local communications agency specialising in stakeholder and community 
engagement, has been commissioned by SKDC to undertake a consultation on its behalf. 

We value your opinion and thank you in advance for completing this questionnaire.

Please share your feedback by 28 February when this survey will close.

1. Did you use Deepings Leisure Centre prior to its temporary closure in July 2021?

❍ Frequently

❍ Occasionally

❍ Never

2. Looking at the proposed remodelling and refurbishment, would you be likely to use
the centre in the future?

❍ Yes

	 ❍ No

	 ❍ Unsure

36

86

Appendix N - Feedback survey



Public consultation suRVEY On the remODeLLing Of Deepings Leisure Centre

3. Which of the following facilities do you think you would use?

a. The 25 metre, six lane swimming pool.

	 ❍ Yes
❍ No
❍ Unsure

b. The 80-station health and fitness gym.

❍ Yes
❍ No
❍ Unsure

c. The 200-square metre studios which will cater for a variety of uses
including fitness classes, meeting space and parties.

	 ❍ Yes
	 ❍ No

	 ❍ Unsure

d. The four court 34.5 metre x 18 metre sports hall.

	 ❍ Yes

	 ❍ No

	 ❍ Unsure

4. Do you have any additional feedback you would like to share about the proposal?

5. Please enter your postcode so we know where people taking part in the consultation live.

6. Please tell us about yourself below, selecting all options that apply to you.

	 ❍ A resident of South Kesteven
	 ❍ A parish, town, district or county councillor
	 ❍ A local business
	 ❍ Representing a club, group or other organisation (please use the space below to tell us which one)

	

	 ❍ Other, please specify

Thank you for sharing your feedback. 

If you have any queries, the consultation team can be contacted via email at 
contact@Deepingsleisure-consultation.co.uk or on Freephone 0800 4703 746.

The data you provide here is being collected by Athene Communications on behalf of South Kesteven District Council 
and stored securely in line with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

37

87



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

Emails received 

1. I write in haste as I have little time but this is so important for our community. I am delighted it is being considered and extremely eager for it to go 
ahead.  

2. Why is the centre to be closed for so long, it’s another service that has been removed when there are more and more people paying council tax. 

3. I’m sorry but this isn’t a public consultation at all, it’s just a very basic user / potential user survey with a handful of basic questions. Very very 
strange indeed.  

All the web site and leaflet shows is a very basic hand drawn mock up of the frontage…. For a 10.8mill project the ‘consultation’ is a reall Mickey 
Mouse one in my opinion. Not the fault of Athene of course as they will have been given a remit by SKDC. 

The ‘monkey’ survey software used is freely and generally available FOC (is if a couple of years ago) … I used it for years in my own work for internal 
work surveys as do many companies.  

There is nothing in the consultation content about the actual design and facilities and projected improvements… no mock up pictures of the 
proposed new look of the centre (just a hand drawn picture), no virtual video based on the architects designs at the very least OR any questions that 
give the residents a chance to have their views or a view on the design and facilities planned.  

No one outside of the key people at SKDC appear to have seen the proposed design, only heard the verbal’s, yes it’s been explained to key parish 
council people but again it’s all verbal.  

My opinion you just wasted your money doing this tiny survey (and not a public consultation as touted and expected). 

The actual main part of the work by this company you are using (which is no doubt a great company in their field of work) is collation of the feedback 
and giving you a report which won’t take long. (the tools to do this are in the software already). 

I expect SKDC have given them a tiny restricted remit so they will no doubt and quite rightly be doing as per the specification requested but this is 
not the consultation that was expected at all. 

Very, very, very disappointing to say the least. 

38

88



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

4. Further email received in response to reply sent: 

Thank you for your email. 

However, there really can’t be a consultation (and what has been produced is not one at all in my opinion),about a proposed design (opt 3) as was 
voted on at SKDC,  which no one in the local electorate has seen yet, and until we, the public and the local councillors actually see the proposed 
design it just seems a waste of money. 

A housing developer would at the very least have a development plan and a brochure and would have local community meetings about a planned 
development, before planning has been brought forward normally. 

5. Firstly I would like to introduce myself as an ex swim teacher of the XXX and ex swim coordinator of XXX, as of 31.12.22.  My views are based on 
being passionate in my job role and having worked over ten years feel I know by talking to the community what is needed.  For me the safety, fun 
and sport of swimming is what is important not my redundancy just to clarify. 

From reading your proposal I don't see any real area for parent and child, or small children and babies. I think from a parent’s point of view the 
leaner pool should stay because it makes the children feel more confident being in a smaller area with less people and boisterous swimmers. I feel 
the partial moveable floor in theory may be a good idea but they are not practical and very unsteady under foot. With having both the learner and 
the main pool this provides ample space providing the best teaching in the area.  As Deeping is known for being a most successful swim school, both 
should be kept, we are different from surrounding pools, we are a swimming pool not a leisure pool. Also on the teaching side by having the learner 
pool when teaching primary school swimming we can have 3 or 4 classes going on at the same time in different pools and even more with the swim 
school, we had over 1000 disappointed children when you decided to close the pool, even though it had been leaking for at least 10 years, it should 
have been maintained properly. 

Anyway moving on the extended gym capacity, if you have ever been to the Deeping Leisure Centre you will find this is totally in excess of what is 
needed an up to date 40 station would fit the Deepings more, rather than your proposed 80. 

The changing village is a great idea as even though the changing rooms are adequate it would be great to be updated.  I'm not sure how this would 
work when the senior school come in to change as in a mixed swimming group you could have 15 girls and 15 boys potentially. 

39

89



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

I think rather than modelling it on another site it needs to be modelled for the Deepings and one of the best attributes of the Deeping Leisure Centre 
is their strong swim community. 

On a final note I think it is shameful that you have took away for local children the chance to swim for up to 3 years at least when we are surrounded 
by rivers, quarries etc.  In your consultation period one item to look at would be the length of time you are proposing, is far too long. I will also do 
the online survey but I feel my letter is also needed as swimming, the gym and the general community of what you have took away from The 
Deepings is shameful, all those clubs that have had to stop due to as we now know a lack of care. 

Thanks for listening. 

Look forward to the outcome. 

6. As a member of the Deepings community I received your 'meaningful consultation' in the form of a short Survey Monkey questionnaire which was 
duly completed. 

Today I have been informed by councillor Ashley Baxter that the cost of producing this survey and collating the findings has cost us taxpayers the 
princely sum of £9,975.00.  

As this work comes under the governmental statutory obligation of 'Best Value Review' can I ask if you received three quotes from different 
companies to carry out this consultation? 

Do you not think it would have been cheaper to book the community centre and invite the locals of Market Deeping to a physical meeting. One in 
which we could have aired and discussed our views in a democratic and fair forum? 

I await your response. 

7. To SKDC Consultation Committee, 

I have completed the consultation survey and i must say that I am somewhat underwhelmed. 

I was hoping that there would at least be a little thought into gathering what local residents’ views are. 

40

90



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

What we have received are pretty much 3 closed questions which do absolutely nothing to give the user the opportunity to voice their opinion on 
what SKDC have cobbled together. 

How £11k of taxpayer’s money has been fritted away on this is just beyond me! 

Moving to the proposals by SKDC I'm afraid they completely miss the point of what the residents want. 

The residents in the main want a main swimming pool in the configuration which is currently available. 

Nobody is interested in a floating floor, let’s be honest here, with SKDC track record of upkeep it will be out of commission for the vast majority of 
the time so let's just not bother. 

The learner swimming pool must stay as this is of great benefit of youngsters learning to swim. 

There is space to be utilised over that area but parents want to see their little ones learning to swim so this is not viable. 

Next up we have the gym which has been a running joke for many years and has only ever received cast off from Grantham. 

I doubt very much will differ here but just in case someone is paying attention, the best option is to replace all of the squash courts and have a 2 
floor gym / studio space over that entire area. 

People who enjoy a game of squash may complain but we can look into the historical booking history and review how much that space is actually 
used and revenue potential per hour and square foot. 

Hopefully you will get the idea from some of the detail inputted up here as to how woeful the survey you produced is. 

This is meant to be a meaningful conversation, I hope we have the chance to have one, I won’t get my hopes up though. 

8. The Deepings Leisure Centre consultation mentions a new ‘movable floor’ in the swimming pool area. 

Can you please tell me what the minimum and maximum depths of the pool will be? Can you also please tell me the current depth of the shallow 
end and deep end of the Deepings Pool. 

41

91



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

9. 

10. 

If the movable floor is installed, and a family attends a general swim session at the refurbished pool, will children be able to safely dive into the pool 
at the deep end? If so, will toddlers be able to safely splash around in the same pool? 

If the pool is used for swimming galas (as previously) there might be typically be 6 squads of 30 swimmers each – 180 children and young people. If 
the learner pool is removed, where will the 174 children, plus coaches and officials, who are not in the pool be accommodated? 

Further email received in response to reply sent: 

Thank you for your eventual reply to my e-mail of 10th February. It is unfortunate that the response was not until after the consultation closed. This 
made it impossible for me, or anyone else, to respond to the consultation in light of the comments within your e-mail. 

You have stated that the proposed refurbishments to the pool will “provide a variable water depth between 1.1 metres at the shallow end”. This 
statement makes no sense.  Have you used the word ‘variable’ when you mean ‘static’? if not can you please state the minimum and maximum 
variable water depth at the ‘shallow end? 

You have also referred to “a variable depth between 0 and 1.5 metres at the deep end”. The consultation documents promised that the new (aka 
existing) pool would include “a range of water depths suitable for a mix of swimming lessons, lane swimming, competitive swimming events and 
other water-based fitness activities”. However, Swim England guidance states clearly that a minimum depth of 1.8-metres pool is required for 
teaching shallow dives and racing starts, teaching safety skills required in the DfES National Curriculum for Swimming, as well as for many other 
aquatic sports and activities. 

Can you, or XXX, or the team, please explain how a pool without the ‘industry standard’ 1.8m deep end can meet the Swim England criteria for a 
community and competition pool? 

Further email received in response to reply sent: 

Thank you for your e-mail. 

You have stated below that the plan is to provide a community pool to meet the evidenced local demand, rather than a specialised competition 
pool. These two aspirations are not mutually exclusive. 

The consultation documents promised a pool suitable for “a mix of swimming lessons, lane swimming, competitive swimming events and other 
water-based fitness activities”. Furthermore, in terms of ‘evidenced local demand’, the Deepings Swim Club (DSC) which has been paying to hire the 

42

92



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

pool for roughly 20 hours a week for the last 45 years. The activities of DSC include preparing swimmers for competition which includes training 
them in how to use starting blocks and how to do shallow dives (flat racing dives). 

You have stated that the existing facility “did not meet the requirements for a competition pool”. Can you please direct me to the ASA and FINA 
guidance which says that a 12.5m is unsuitable for competition, and also explain how the pool has successfully been used for competitions for the 
last 45 years, and also how other pools of the same dimensions (eg. North Hykeham) or smaller (eg. Wisbech) manage to run successful galas? 

You suggest the “ASA Preliminary Competitive Start award scheme states that flat racing dives should be taught in a minimum water depth of 1.5 
metres”. I have looked at the Swim England guidance regarding the Competitive Start Awards which states competitors should be able to 
“demonstrate” competence in a minimum water depth of 1.5m. However, I cannot find any guidance which permits or recommends them to be 
‘taught’ in 1.5m. On the contrary, the Swim England guidance on water depths (attached) clearly states “the teaching of a shallow dive, which is the 
preliminary to the teaching of all other diving activities and which requires a minimum depth of 1.8-metres”. 

The attached guidance goes on to state that deep water offers “the opportunity for all swimmers to experience swimming in deep water and gain 
confidence in their ability to cope with water where they can’t stand”. This is also a safety skill requirement of the DfES national curriculum. If the 
new pool is supposed to offer swimming lessons to adults and teenagers, how would a tutor begin to teach someone of my height (1.83m) to tread 
water in a depth which barely reaches my shoulders? 

The attached guidance also lists various other activities including life-saving practice which require a depth of 1.8m. Would it not be advantageous 
to enable life guards to train and practice at the site where they work? 

When Councillors were considering the options for a new pool, we were taken to North Hykeham as an example of an ‘excellent’ refurbishment of a 
similar facility to the Deepings. The North Hykeham pool offers: 

• training facilities currently used by 2 or 3 swimming clubs

• a pool hall appropriate for galas with space for competitors to rest and circulate while awaiting their heats

• a learner pool

• extra activities for toddlers.

• a deep-end suitable for diving during unprogrammed sessions.

My understanding is that the current proposals for the Deepings would have none of these facilities. An alteration to the plans to retain the existing 
learner pool and withdraw the recommendation for the movable floor would solve these problems and save a small fortune. 

I would appreciate your answers and thoughts on the above. I would be happy to discuss on the phone, teams or in person if it helps. 

43

93



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

11. 

12. 

Hi, 

Where can a plan of the various options being proposed for the Deepings Leisure centre be viewed? 

Further email received in response to reply sent:  

Thanks for your efforts. I am so glad I have it as it raises several questions for this evening’s webinar 

Did you get any further with my query regarding the lease for the building between LCC and SKDC? 

13. Response to the consultation on the proposal for the Deepings Leisure Centre 

Market Deeping Town Council wish to respond to the consultation regarding the remodelling of the Deepings Leisure Centre. We have collated the 
views of the Council after consulting with our constituents and have the following views and thoughts upon the consultation document:  

• We see no proposed activities relating to less mainstream sports activities and as a unified authority we believe it is imperative that we offer these
activities. These activities listed, whilst not a conclusive list, were available before the proposed refurbishment:

• Squash

• Racket Ball

• Table Tennis

• Carpet Bowls

• Basketball

• Indoor Tennis

• Disability Sport

Whilst many of these sports saw a decline in use previously in the Leisure Centre – we are convinced this is as a resulting factor of poor maintenance 
of the facilities, rather than dwindling demand.  

44

94



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

• The swimming pool loss of a “learner” pool causes some anxiety amongst the community and we understand the proposed new pool has a
solution – but we believe this is a negative impact on availability. The new pool is much more than the “fun” pools provided at other leisure facilities
within SKDC. This pool can offer more serious swimmers the chance to train for competition as well as hosting competitions. The constant switch
between learner activities and mainstream swimming will cause a poor timetable of availability. Market Deeping is growing in population and the
demographic being targeted by the housing sector is going to lead to a larger population wanting to access learner facilities – which in turn we hope
will lead to a longer-term need for “proper” swimming. We urge you to reconsider the position and look at the demographic of Market Deeping and
the surrounding area including South Holland whose electorate will access these facilities from the likes of “Deeping St Nicholas” and surrounding
area.
• The Gym is welcome but we would urge caution in the increase in the number of stations. Market Deeping has two commercial Gym’s already
within the village and two further within close proximity (Werrington, Peterborough and Bourne, SKDC) that are well attended. They also have space
to extend with the anticipated increase in population in Market Deeping. We think that you will not see the anticipated revenue from the Gym and
hence your need to re-consider the eighty stations mentioned in the consultation.
• The four configurable rooms will be a welcome resource within Market Deeping and we believe these could offer a valuable resource aside from
just the “health” benefits of the sports that can be played. These valuable revenue generating opportunities will be less probable without some form
of “café” culture and access to good quality healthy food and drinks. We had anticipated disabled access groups and similar being able to play sports
and enjoy the social aspect alongside their activities. We believe a “café’ is a must – and surely can be a valuable high-margin revenue source. We
would not like to see a vending machine culture which is contrary to the healthy lifestyle being invested in with the refurbishment.
• There is no mention in the consultation document to access to the “open” playing fields that could previously booked through the reception of the
leisure centre. We hope that this will still be possible.
• The refurbishment is given a life of twenty-five years. We would like some assurances that alongside this commitment that a Precept is placed

upon the residents of SKDC to provide a NEW facility in twenty-two years. This short fall in years would allow SKDC to consult, purchase, design and
build the new facility to ensure that the residents of Market Deeping and the surrounding area have continuous access to leisure facilities in the
future.

Thank you for the opportunity to be consulted on the proposed refurbishment and for the funding that has been made available. We would very 
much welcome and look forward to receiving further consultation as the project progresses to ensure that Market Deeping resident’s views are 
incorporated in the design process. 

14. 
I write on behalf of Deepings Swimming Club, in response to the current Deepings Leisure Centre consultation, specifically focused on the pool 
facilities. 

45

95



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

We are delighted that the Council recently approved a £10.7 million investment proposal for the centre’s full remodelling and refurbishment.  This is 
a significantly opportunity to improve the facilities on offer and secure the centres future. We are pleased that the Council are using the Sport 
England’s Facility Planning Model to bring the centre up to date.  

As a Swimming Club, we would like to also draw your attention to work being undertaken by Swim England, who have unparalleled expertise as the 
national governing body for swimming, diving, water polo and artistic swimming in England.  They have a dedicated facilities team that can provide 
expert guidance on new and refurbished pool design, pool management and health and safety. They will engage with both the public and private 
sector to ensure swimming pools are built or refurbished ‘fit for purpose’.  We urge you to consult Swim England as early as possible to consider 
your plans to ensure the refurbishment is indeed “fit for purpose” in their opinion.  

As we understand it, the main pool reconfiguration is to “provide a level deck structure, re-tiling the pool tank, and the addition of a partial 
moveable floor would provide the required water area previously identified and be flexible enough for a mix of swimming lessons, lane swimming 
and competitive swimming events.” 

We absolutely welcome this news.  A deck level pool is currently the “cleanest” and more hygienic type of swimming pool which in turn means the 
water quality and the air quality in the “breathing zone” of swimmers should be greatly improved on the current tough and scum channel design.  
What we are concerned about however, is the loss of the previously underutilised learner pool.  Water space is precious, and Deepings Swimming 
Club have always been grateful for the water time the DLC pool operators have been able to give us.  We have fully understood the challenge and 
“battles” to accommodate the school, the paying public, Deepings Swimming Club, children’s parties and the pool operators own Swim School…not 
to mention other requests from sponsored swims and other aquatic groups.   

South Kesteven and the surround area is growing very quickly.  Neighbouring Peterborough is seeing growth in the top ten in the country and 
ultimately the overspill of residents will see The Deepings grow.  This is positive for the Leisure Centre as there will be more users drawn to the 
facility.  The negative is that this will ultimately cause more pressure on the facility and those similar in the area.   

Although a pool with a moveable floor gives flexibility of use for non-swimmers, through to the most able, it does mean everyone will be fighting 
over one space.  In the past, Deepings Swimming Club has been able to use the main pool while the pool operator Swim School uses the learner 
pool.  With the loss of the learner pool, this would no longer be an option and will be a lost opportunity driving customers away. 

When we host swimming gala’s we need and rely on the learner pool space as a holding area for swimmers.  This is to enable the swimmers to ready 
themselves for races and be organised into lanes for race heats.  Without this space we would struggle to hold important fixtures. These fixtures also 
pack the balcony with spectators, all of which have used the facilities café bringing revenue to the centre. 

46

96



Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

We said above “underutilised” leaner pool.  As we always understood it, this was because, funding restraints meant that lifeguards were focused on 
the main pool and the learner pool was kept closed.  We know from our own experiences and that of friends and relatives; learner and disabled 
swimmers have all had to drive to places like Spalding and Peterborough to use their facilities, when they could have used their local facility, had it 
been an option.  The suggestion that these swimmers can head to the leisure pools in Stamford or Bourne must have been made by someone who 
doesn’t understand swimming teaching.  Learning to swim for many children, particularly those with learning disabilities is daunting.  Pools acoustics 
are loud already but amplified in “fun pool”, even more so with children having fun on slides or when wave machines are on.  Yes, the water is 
shallow in the beach area but it is not appropriate for families wanting to teaching young non swimmers or the nervous to swim… they can be 
frightening environments.  Swimming is a life skill, it’s vital that everyone has a safe environment to learn to swim and build their confidence. 

We do have a question as the to need of a rentable studio, which replaces the learner pool, because DLC has had rentable space and it’s not been 
used (the old bar area which can be split into two rooms, converted squash courts, Welland Room, Sports Hall to name a few); which makes us 
wonder “what’s changed?” and what the supporting business case is over additional revenue from having a fully functional learner pool open. 

Our next thoughts turn to the timeline.  We fully appreciate consultations take time, the transfer of legalities of the building will take time, the 
tender process will take time and the refurbishment will take time.  Given the consultation ends in February 2022 an estimated opening date of 
January 2025 seems like an extremely long timeline.  We’d welcome Councillors reviewing this to see if it can be bought forward for the good of the 
community.  This also brings back into question the moveable floor… if this is part of the reason for the refurbishment delay; can this be revisited?  
Leave the learner pool in situ; make it fully functioning, save the money on the moveable floor.  Please open the building as fast as you can as the 
community are suffering. 

Our final comments are around a new facility.  We fully appreciate that funding is a huge limitation in the current climate and know authorities are 
working hard to make budgets balance.  This is why we welcome and are grateful for the investment SKDC have committed to make in DLC.  We 
hope that Deepings Swimming Club would be able to return to the pool we have called our home for 46 years, in some capacity.   

Whilst we look forward to a future proofed refurbished leisure centre, we also urge the Council to work with neighbouring authorities to look at the 
growing population and current aging swimming pool stock.  At some point the other pools in the area will also have the same challenges DLC has 
seen.  We urge you to ensure all of the facilities in your Council’s control are reviewed for repair works needed.  We also urge you to come forward 
with the affordable, costed plan for a new facility in addition to the current Deepings Leisure Centre.  Why do we say that? 
Swim England has produced a report “A Decade of Decline: The Future of Swimming Pools in England”.  The report shows that there will be a huge 
reduction in the amount of water space available by 2030, which could threaten the future of aquatic sports in areas like ours and leave millions shut 
out of the activities they love. 

47

97

https://www.swimming.org/library/documents/5272/download


Appendix O - Substantive emails received 

The report has assessed the evidence based local demand for leisure facilities and has also considered potential population growth and competing 
facilities.  As you can see from this map, the shortfall in water capacity is frightening and the implications to the public both in health and wellbeing, 
the NHS and schools will be very real. 

Source: Swim England report A Decade of Decline: The Future of Swimming Pools in England / Report 2021 

With Levelling up funding an opportunity, we urge you to look to the future and lobby for our area to have additional funding to invest in a new 
leisure facility.  

Thank you for taking the time to read our consultation reply and we look forward to receiving your reply. 

48

98



49
99



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Three 

Summary of responses provided to Question 4 in the free text box 

Summary of comments from respondents  Number of responses  

Learner/children’s pool  

Request for retention of learner/ children's pool  169 

Loss of learner pool will impact on availability/ 
quality of main pool  

25 

Suggest slide in pool for children  3 

80-station gym  

Gym is too large  57 

Rentable studio not needed  5 

Request for daytime fitness sessions 4 

Expansion of gym a good idea 1 

General pool feedback  

Moveable floor not needed  35 

Request for longer opening hours for public 
swimming 

23 

Showers/changing facilities must be improved and 
maintained - inclusion of family changing  

11 

Request for competition pool (with starting blocks)  7 

Request for lane pool  6 

150-seater stand should not be included  5 

Pool was too cold before  4 

Request for hydrotherapy pool  3 

Swim England should be consulted about 
refurbishment 

2 

Request for daytime aquafit sessions  2 

Safer surfaces needed to avoid slip risk 2 

Request for family swim times 1 

Support for moveable pool 1 

Consultation process/survey feedback   

Consultation does not ask what facilities the 
community wants  

49 

Proposals not explained in enough detail - graphic or 
visuals should be provided  

20 

Time critical   

Work should be completed sooner than 3.5 years/ 
Pool should open sooner  

68 

Essential facilities have been missed by community  60 

Closure has impacted on children's swimming 
lessons  

20 

School children need access ASAP 6 
 

 

 

 

 

101



General feedback  

General support for proposals  28 

Brand new building should be built rather than 
refurbishment (was promised in the past)  

21 

Request for retention of café  14 

£10m is too much to spend (of taxpayer money)  14 

Sufficient funding needs to be provided for long-
term maintenance to avoid repeat of what 
happened with old centre  

14 

Retain former layout  7 

Request for more funding at Bourne Leisure Centre 5 

Importance of disabled access  5 

Request for more funding at Stamford Leisure 
Centre 

4 

Request for online booking system (rather than 
phone)  

3 

Proposed facilities not big enough for Deeping 
population 

3 

Concerns about business viability of proposals 3 

General opposition to proposals  2 

Questions over who made the proposals 2 

Refurbishment necessary 2 

Request for extra parking 2 

Request for improved public transport links to the 
pool 

1 

Importance of better ventilation 1 

Price of facilities needs to be affordable 1 

Open spaces adjoining school so classes can 
continue whilst works are happening 

1 

Additional facilities requested  

Request for retention of squash/ badminton courts  27 

Request for footballing/ sports pitches (astro/4G)  10 

Request for hireable event venue  7 

Request for table tennis facilities  3 

Request for performance space in new facility  1 

Request for sprung floor in sports hall  1 

Request for sauna/ steam room 1 

Soft play area  1 

Request for sensory garden  1 

Request for a jacuzzi  1 

Request for climbing wall  1 

Request for indoor surfing  1 

Request for water polo  1 

Request for more children’s activities  1 

Area for children's parties should be kept 1 

Request for cricket nets in sports hall  1 

Separate school changing facility needed 1 

Studios for classes essential 1 

 

102



Retention of the learner pool is essential. A café would be a welcome addition - frequently used 

previously

Please complete the work much sooner - three and a half years is too long to wait

Please fix the roof and re-open ASAP

You don't need to spend £10m and take 3.5 years refurbishing

What a waste of time and money - do the minimum required to reopen the pool/ centre

Please re-open the pool sooner and don't waste tax payer's money

I can't believe you are proposing to spend £10m and 3.5 years to fix a roof and re-open the centre

Jan 2025 is much to long to wait and £10m is too much to spend

Keep it simple and re-open sooner

Changing pool layout is a waste of money

Limited facilities at other local venues and also helps local schools. Surely missed

Keep it simple, you don't need to spend £10m of taxpayers money to re-open the pool

Really like the booking system in place since covid

Improvement of showers essential. Poor quality at Deeping, Bourne and Stamford. Daytime 

aquafit essential

Definitely need a learner pool separate from the main pool as there used to be no spaces in the 

learner swimming lessons even when there were too pools. Both pools were full with swimming 

lessions every day from 4-6pm. Good Café needed

Please ensure daytime aquafit sessions and lane swimming

I have one concern: with the refurbishment of DLC will there be any funds left to imrpove 

facilities at Bourne and Stamford L centres?

I think it is appalling that you find all this money to spend in Deeping when Stamford doesn’t have 

all 5 showers working for at least 6-12 months and mould regrowing in them. I am now a disabled 

person and swimming is critical for my health

No squash courts?

F your cuts. Take a pay cut

I want to swim

4. Do you have any additional feedback you would like to share about the proposal?

103



We want the swimming pool!

We are realling missing having these facilities

Why take away the children's learning pool?

Currently using Bourne mainly, sometimes Stamford, would like a proper pool

We miss the leisure centre

More equipment at Bourne

Pool design needs to incorporate disabled access and safer surfaces to avoid slip risk. Better 

ventilation for pool and changing areas

Well overdue but vital for the community for both mental and physical health

It would benefit the community to have loval gyms as well as avoiding monopolising the local 

fitness industry

Need more gym equipment in Bourne

We need this facility to support the Deepings. It is a vital element of the community

Squash courts please

We need a competition pool in this area badly - Grantham has one, Boston has one, Bourne and 

Stamford not good enough so we need one

Poor quality consultation survey

Parking needs to be looked at when the school is open - not enough parking

Competitive swimming pool is a must

Please rebuild!

I swam here in the swimming club. It is a huge part of the community

Keep it open!

Sports centres are an essential part of the community. Vital for public health and wellbeing

Retain children's pool

Retain children's pool

Pool is freezing. Changing rooms are freezing. Needs updating

We need deeping swimming club back in its rightfyll home. We need the pool format as before, 

with the 25m and learner pool. Schools use it, swimming is a life skill. Children of the Depeings 

have a right to this facility

The Deepings lacks a space for staging plays - performances of all kinds and it would be great if 

this refurbished facility could provide accommodation for this

Leisure centre needed urgently. 3.5 years is too long

Regular availability of daytime fitness classes to encourage active retired persons to maintain 

fitness and mobility

104



An 80 station gym is too mich as there were times when I was the only person in there. Also the 

leisure pool would be missed

The swimming pool facilities need to be a priority to support the children of Deeping

Needs to happen quicker, taking too long

My husband and I enjoy swimming, would appreciate better changing facilities and better 

opening hours for the general public

Sorry to be losing the squash courts even though they had been poorly maintained

A learner pool would be a benefit as my children and grandchildren learnt to swim there. A café 

would be good for parents watching lessons

An 80 station gym is excessive as it was never full beofre. The centre needs a learner pool and a 

café

A have grave concerns about the 'moveable' floor. Incurring high cost and maintenance. Deeping 

is the only 'swimming' pool locally rather than a 'play' pool/ We need functional not fanciful

A purpose built community use only would be a better option

A new leisure centre is a vital part of the community and would provide vital amenities

We need the small teaching pool

Needs to be ready/ completed quicker - 3 years is too long to not be able to exercise. Baby pool 

needed

Please get it done asap school should still be able to access the pool. Still needs a separate baby 

pool

Please don't delay. We need this as soon as possible. Also needed is facilities for Deeping football 

teams (4G / Astro Pitch)

I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not leave any debate on whether we want all that money spent 

patching up an old building, when in my opinion it would be better used putting it towards a 

brand new complex.    Then I would be happy to regularly use the facilities.    

This survey is fundamentally flawed. We don't need a 6 lane pool with adjustable floor. We need 

the 4 lane pool and learner pool back open ASAP. We need the sports hall open as a matter of 

urgency. Your are consistently failing Deepings residents, particularly the children. We don't need 

an 80 station fitness suite. We need facilities that are open not up to 4 years without provision.

I think the loss of dedicated learner pool is a terrible idea.  I have used this with my own children 

and grandchild.  Swimming lessons are in demand but the new system will cut down on pool 

availability.   A move able floor won't provide the extra warmth the learner pool gave which is 

important with the very young.  Extra gyms are unnecessary as lots available in town.   Would like 

to know why getting rid of the learner pool is not even mentioned in this survey. This is a massive 

issue that local people  have been unable to voice their opinion on. This survey is not interested in 

local views. 

The refurbishment is well needed. It would be good to have an update of the timetables as well 

so the gym and pool can be used more.

105



I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment.

No

Letter from Deepings Swim Club - see Appendix ***

no

I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment. I think it is very important that the learner pool is retained so that 

experienced swimmers can still swim even when swim school is in progress. I recall that 

previously the swim school trained after school, resulting in only a couple of lanes for other 

swimmers. Without the learner pool, it’s likely other swimmers won’t be able to swim at all whilst 

swim club/school is running. 

Keep the learner pool, the proposed 'moving floor' option is over complicating the issue.  80 

stations in the gym is too many, 30 would suffice and leave space for other facilities.

A good quality refurbishment is more important than re-modeling the the leisure centre.

I cannot agree or disagree with the proposal as I do not feel that it is providing me with sufficient 

details to make my decision.  I think that the current swimming pools meet the needs of people 

who swim for exercise and the swimming clubs (including learners) and re-modelling of the 

swimming pools is not a priority. 

i would not use the pool if it had the moveable floor and no learner pool as i would not want to 

swim with lots of children in armbands getting in the way.  there should remain a learner pool so 

that adults can also enjoy the pool facilities

The removal of the learner pool will place greater stress on the only remaining swimming pool 

with the swimming club and recreational swimmers competing for even less time available to 

meet their requirements in peak out of school hours.  There are several void spaces which could 

be utilised to take the multi purpose studio and enable the leaner pool to remain.  There appears 

no changing facilities for schoolchildren. With the school hall being the only part of the building 

they will use, why can they not have their own standalone sports hall and negate any child 

protection issues and clashes of school / public uses of the leisure centre?  There is no 

preparation facility for the downstairs cafe and anyone wishing to use the facility will have to pass 

through this area as well as have people enjoying refreshments, while the current cafe facilities 

area is left unoccupied.  Where is the business plan upon which this consultation is based?  The 

lease agreement between SKDC and LCC is moving forward. Has the Academy approved the plan 

in principle? What is the alternative plan if agreement cannot be reached by all parties? 

We definitely need a swimming pool in the Deepings.  We cannot allow the leisure centre to be 

closed for good.

Large, modern, heated changing rooms suitable for women with children needed

The council promised a new site to be built and land was reserved according to you, you now 

changed this and this is not what the local tax payers want they want what was promised a NEW 

SPORTS CENTRE!!!

We need to keep the learner pool, this is an absolute must for the children.we do not want to 

have to travel to Bourne or Stamford and neither of those is suitable anyway.without the learner 

pool there will be too few times available for learners or the moveable floor proposed would 

make less times for all swimming groups. The moveable floor will also be a cost drain as it will 

require more upkeep and inspection to keep it functioning. KEEP THE LEARNER POOL IT IS A 

MUST!

106



N/a

Keep the learner pool

I’ve been going to Stamford leisure pool for nearly 30 years and I’m disgusted you’re going spend 

£10.7 on M D when you can’t even bring Stamford pool up to standard even though they are 

planning to build 900 more houses in Stamford and when you enquire about the situation you 

can’t get a straight answer from the council . I’m thinking it’s time to go to the press what exactly 

is Stamford getting for it’s high rates!! I am now disabled and the pool is critical to my on going 

health issues and this applies to several people using Stamford pool. We want answers NOW

I would like the learner pool to be retained in favour of the extended proposals please. I had just 

determined to swim more regularly at my lovely local pool when it was closed. I wouldn't travel a 

long way to swim. Having a local pool is very important to me. These questions did not give the 

chance to select which facilities to keep or lose, only about what the proposal was. I hope you 

keep the vital learner pool and save spending on a movable floor which is bound to break down, 

such is my confidence in the proposal. Please SKDC, listen to folk living in and around Deeping.

A soft play area for children like whittlesey leisure centre has would be essential given we have 

nothing in deeping like this for children to be active and healthy

No

Plans look fantastic and something residents should be proud of

Squash and Squash 57 are hugely popular sports which also happen to be the best sports for 

fitness. It is disappointing that they don't seem to be being replaced. If they had been maintained 

and looked after properly they would have undoubtedly had more use. It is disgraceful they are 

being ignored.

Learning to swim should be the right of every child., for both safety reasons and personal 

confidence as well as for personal achievement and competition

why not make it a 50 meter pool to facilitate the development of our young swimmers who show 

such potential. It would be good to put SKDC "on the map" for sport

I believe restricting swimmers into one pool is a ridiculous idea. It would make it unsafe for 

younger non/inexperienced swimmers to use the pool during family splash, etc... when the more 

experienced swimmers are enjoying pool.  The 2 pool system works perfectly well. Why change it?

The Deepings School and Anthem Schools Trust are supportive of the proposal to remodel and 

refurbish the Deepings Leisure Centre.    Various issues are under discussion between the 

School/Trust and SKDC in order to agree the Heads of Term document required for the lease, and 

the proposed Service Level Agreement that is required.      The School/Trust welcome the 

opportunity to have full input at planning design stage to ensure that areas of shared access and 

emergency exit, shared facilities, IT and utilities and car parking requirements all meet the 

safeguarding, compliance and operational needs of the school, to enable the completion of the 

Heads of Terms and Service Level Agreement.    

Needs to be daytime classes and be able to use swimming pool during the day without 

restrictions. 

107



I am concerned at the reduction in swimming pool space in terms of the popularity of lessons 

when the learner pool is going to be removed. This will impact on the swimming club and public 

sessions. Like the Grantham centre these are important aspects that need to be considered. The 

gym does need to be improved but not at the detriment of its main feature. 

I think the children's pool should remain. A moveable floor is a waste of money and not needed.  

This survey does not give me the opportunity to express my views.

The squash courts are really important to me, as well as the badminton courts and the 2 

swimming pools (both learner and full sized 25m pool). I used these all once a week and I am 

missing them greatly. My husband and 2 children also used the facilities 3 times a week, every 

week for martial arts, swimming and squash. To lose any of these facilities would be really 

disappointing. Please ensure they are kept.

The centre desperately needs more than one large room for fitness classes.  Ie Zumba, spinning, 

Pilates 

It feels like this consultation is very narrow in approach and the questions that are being asked 

relate to what you want to do rather than consulting with residents about what they actually 

want from a leisure facility in the area.  I think the proposal to remove the learner pool and create 

a massive gym is flawed and the 'moving floor' for a swimming pool sounds like a solution looking 

for a problem.  Surely you should be looking to provide a functional and cost effective leisure 

facility that makes best use of public funds, as quickly as possible. I do not believe this is the case 

with what is proposed currently.

This survey is shallow. It does not address the proposed changes in full, e.g the raised floor of the 

swimming pool is not a good option. The survey is flawed and pre selected responses are biased 

with no room for alternatives.

Keep the learner pool. It’s an important part to help build confidence in adults & children  

regarding many issues.

I do not believe that a moveable floor is necessary for the reburbished pool.  Keep the learning 

pool.  There is no need to increase the gym stations as adequate  provisions are made elsewhere.  

A large event venue would be brilliant.

This is a poor survey. For Q2, of course I’ll use the Centre because there will be no alternative, 

even though it may not be optimally designed. For Q4, you haven’t asked what I’d find useful, just 

to choose what someone else has decided is the ‘answer’. This was a very poor attempt at 

consultation and not effective.

I used the learner pool to teach my children to swim. I would hate to see it disappear as it is used 

for the next generation of youngsters. A movable floor sounds a recipe for disaster and we don’t 

need more gym equipment 

My children from the age of two learnt to swim starting in the slightly warmer learner pool. I am 

disappointed that you either want to remove the learner pool or use an alternative expensive 

option. What audiences will you have and how often. Not a good use of space

no

Just hurry up and fix it!

Please please start the work as soon as possible. We really want our local leisure centre back and 

reopen. The closure of the centre has negatively impacted us as a family, where my children can 

no longer swim and we can no longer attend the gym. Mentally and physically we are struggling 

from the pandemic and this was our freedom and helping us stay happy and healthy. Since the 

closure, we’re now all struggling again. Please reopen it again as soon as possible. Thank you. 

108



It was a fun place and miss it so much 

The Deepings area is a large enough community to warrant it's own up to date, practical and well 

maintained leisure facility without people having to travel outside the area.

Vital for local people

The teaching pool should stay. Your gathering of feedback given the massive community feeling 

on this subject has been shocking, so little effort to alert the residents of the Deepings to the 

requirement for feedback and how to do so. 

Do not want learning pool to go

The leisure Centre should be put back to how it was first built. It was a very pleasant place to go 

at that time,  Have a swim, teach the children to swim and have a bite to eat. The new proposal is 

rubbish and takes no account of what the people want. SKDC council should be voted out at the 

next election and get a new one who will work for the people.  I would only use it if it is built as 

the residents want it, not SKDC

Main requirement is Children’s swimming lessons inc Pre school. A warm teaching pool would be 

amazing. I’m not fully aware of the proposals but it seems this is missing under current plans.

4 questions! Disappointing survey for a lot of money. Getting time to swim was difficult as it 

stood, now we'll have one less pool. The Cafe is being removed, this could have been a good 

source of income for waiting parents, visitors. All in all it's a poor compromise vs the election 

"promised" new pool and a long time coming.    I feel deeply disappointed, lied to and 

disillusioned with the whole process, like the people of Deeping and their mental health just 

doesn't matter.

Please keep the squash courts. Other courts are so expensive and such a journey, it'd be great to 

be able to have our local ones back.

You need to retain the learner swimming pool.  You also need to carry out the refurbishment 

much more quickly.  Two or 3 more years without these facilities is a joke, especially when you 

failed to properly maintain the centre in the first place!    

I believe the money would be better spent elsewhere such as maintaining the provision of 

services that are necessary. 

As a long serving Rotarian in the Deepings I have been part of the annual Christmas Grimthorpe 

band concert committee.  This takes part each Christmas for over 350 local people and is self 

funded from the entrance fee. The sports hall provided the seating necessary seats, these were 

laid out by our rotarians.  The concert proved a great success every year. The Deepings has no hall 

such as the sports hall, so a new sports hall would provide for our needs along with the normal 

sports events.

What a joke. I don't think any of The Deepings users of the facilities were consulted about the 

proposals. It is absolutely ridiculous in removing the learner pool which was used a great deal. 

There are children that are afraid of water and the larger expanse would do them no favours. As 

for replacing it with a 80 station gym, there is no need as there two other perfectly good gyms in 

Deeping. If the existing leisure was properly looked after in the first place we would not be this 

current situation. There is no need for an expensive  adjustable floor- a waste of money.

I feel very strongly that the learner pool was a very valuable resource to non swimmers and those 

lacking confidence and should remain( I am a mum of 2 and worked as a TA at Deepings School) 

This form does not seem to allow me to put my opinions. I would also like to see the large hall 

being suitable for hire as an entertainment venue, which is lacking locally.

109



I think the new proposal will be a great upgrade to the deeping area especially for younger 

children having somewhere to learn to swim.

Looking forward to it being reopened and updated into the 21st century 

Ensure the pool has a shallow learner area and limit the gym expansion to double the current 

number of stations 

The new facilities desperately need to include a baby/child/learners pool. The suggestion of a 

moveable floor is ridiculous, incredible (not in the positive sense of the word) and just 

incredulous. The proposed changes are NOT what the community wants or needs and the people 

in charge haven’t listened to what the community wants or needs at all (if they cared, they would 

have looked after the original building). Please listen to what residents want and provide a proper 

learners pool. The pool is more important than a massive gym. 

Please keep learner pool, a full swimming pool is very intimidating for toddlers, also need to 

increase general swim to public

N/A

Please keep the separate learner pool and include a cafe for people to meet each other and 

spectate their children's swimming. 

I definitely think you should keep the learner pool for future generations and the gym is too 

large… 

I think the facilities in the pool were excellent, with lots of education. I often used the learner 

pool and would like to have this available in the future.

We need a leaner pool too help the develop of the younger generation for swimming. I used to 

work at the Lesiure centre and this helped loads of children and parents with their babies! 

Please keep the learner pool and the gym station is far too big…

If money were no object I think a swimming pool with a moveable floor and an 80 station gym 

would be good but in the real world where there is a budget I think it is more important to retain 

a toddler pool than have a movable floor pool even if that reduces the space available for studios. 

There are other options for studio space in Deeping but you would need to travel to Bourne or 

Stamford for a pool with a shallow area and even then it’s not self contained and heated to 

temperatures of a toddler pool, this is really needed. I also think it is more important to have a 

couple of squash courts than extra gym stations, this is because there are other gym facilities 

nearby and easily accessible but not squash courts. 

N/A

I think the small heated pool for young children should be retained

The communication regarding this is as bad as the timetables and communication provided when 

the centre was open - under utilised as not marketed to the LOCAL area. I would have used the 

facilities a lot more if the times had allowed (courts and pool) and the clubs had been more 

widely publicised 

The people of Deeping need this facility

I would love deeping to have a lesuire centre open again. Swimming is good for my health and 

mental welfare. 

We need a separate learner pool. My youngest child is nearly 6, and due to covid and the closure 

of the Deepings leisure centre, she has never had a swimming lesson. She would be too 

intimidated to learn in the main pool with older children/adults using it. The suggestion to get rid 

of the learner pool in my opinion is preposterous. 

I would like to see a cafe included - this was very well used amd seems mad not to have one.   I 

would also wish to see a separate learner pool as I have doubts regarding the maintenance of a 

moveable floor option 

Too many gym stations, loss of squash courts disappointing. Need a learner pool

I think the learner pool should be kept.  I also think that the 80 station gym is excessive.  

110



You must keep the learner pool in its current position. Do not bother with the moveable floor. 

The current pool is sufficient and appropriate alongside the current learner pool.

I'm not in favour, for a number of reasons, of the removal of the learner pool. In fact, I would 

much prefer the originally promised plan of a temporary fix to the existing leisure centre while a 

new centre is built. Consult with Deepings residents you are supposed to represent. Local 

elections are not far off! 

This proposal is not what we the people of the deepings have ask for. You at skdc have not 

listened to a word of what we have said of what we need. We are always the last to get anything 

if at all.

How on earth can this be classed as consultation? This does not allow for residents of Deeping to 

actually share their opinions on what leisure facilities are needed. This whole saga gets worse 

with each step that is taken. Every member of SKDC who is involved with this debacle should be 

deeply ashamed and should not be allowed to continue in their roles. Lies, deceit and corruption!!

I do not feel that 4 questions is a consultation or inviting enough feedback. The teaching pool 

should remain abd not be replaced by studios. Having the one pool will reduce the number of 

lessons that can take place. Not sure we need an 80 station gym. I'm sure a better consultation 

with the actual residents of Deeping could take place to find out what we use the centre for.  The 

whole thing has been badly managed. 

Where is the cafe, the squash courts, Astroturf, the bar, the learner pool??? Is this a leisure centre 

or a glorified gym?

This is rubbish consultation. It does not set out what the options are. I may use fitness equipment 

but I don't think it should be 80 stations this it too many. I may use studios for fitness classes but 

don't really know about the size specified in the question. What about the facilities outside the 

centre such as the artificial pitch which has been out of use for too long due to poor maintenance 

making it unsafe. The question does not ask about the training pool which I think should be 

retained.

No

why is there nothing about the other facilities such as cafe, bar etc..  and nothing about the 

artificial pitch and its upgrade to allow for soccer, hockey, tennis, basketball etc and changing 

facilities nearby

The new facilities desperately need to include a baby/child/learners pool. The suggestion of a 

moveable floor is ridiculous, incredible (not in the positive sense of the word) and just 

incredulous. The proposed changes are NOT what the community wants or needs and the people 

in charge haven’t listened to what the community wants or needs at all (if they cared, they would 

have looked after the original building). Please listen to what residents want and provide a proper 

learners pool. The pool is more important than a massive gym. 

More public availability of the swimming pool would be an asset

The gym sounds too big..only needs 40 capacity & need a learner pool.

the floating floor in the swimming pool is a complete waste of time and money    removing the 

learner pool is appalling    only 3 questions does not constitute a consultation.    please get the 

facilities up and running asap  

111



It was a real surprise when the pool was shut and the centre as a whole. I regularly used the pool 

with my children when they were growing , this was the learner pool I see by some of your 

suggestions you are thinking of getting rid of this ….. NO this would be a backward step this one 

part of what the Deeping pool different to all the other surrounding pools . My children would 

have massively struggled to learn to swim was it not for the learning pool and I know talking to 

other locals it was the same with their children and our future grand children need this facility… 

not to labour the point but it would be a disaster and when I’ve been to the pool this is regularly 

used by mums and babies and the main pool was empty and it gave them to opportunity to teach 

their kids in a small safe environment.

Definitely need a learner pool, it was the main attraction when my children were little

We need a learner pool and the gym is far too large. 40 would do. 

I think the gym size is too big though, would feel a bit intimadated.

Please don’t make the pool worse for general swimming. 

Depending on how long the renovation takes, I would hope to use the new facility to continue my 

daughter's swimming lessons (they were halted abruptly because of the woefully poor 

maintenance of the existing leisure centre). She would be using the larger pool, but I do have 

concerns about the removal of the learner pool. The separate, warmer, calmer, quieter pool was 

an ideal place for babies and little ones to learn and that won't be the case if it is incorporated 

into the main pool. Given how much private pools charge for baby swimming lessons, removing 

the separate pool also seems to be shortsighted as it could provide a significant revenue stream. 

We regularly used the swimming pool for school swimming lessons. We have concerns over the 

new proposal which seriously limits the opportunities for primary school swimming  lessons, 

which is a statutory requirement, during the school day in term time. 

Adequate resources need to be allocated for quality staff and good cleaning regimes 

Unfortunately no public transport to get people from out of market deeping to get to the pool so 

only  a portion of residents can use it

Keep it going

No plans to keep squash courts. These should be kept also 

Waste of taxpayers money

I didn’t use previously as I’ve only just moved to the area. The leisure centre was part of the 

appeal to move over this way and as soon as we moved it closed. 

Concerned that the teaching pool may not be maintained

I would prefer to keep the learner pool for youngsters

Would be interested in Table Tennis being available and earlier opening hours such as 5am.

The sports centre should be considered a necessity for a township the size of the Deepings which 

is constantly growing. It is essential to provide the existing facilities to the local community and 

beyond. The centre also provides for the schools in Deeping, all of which are being sorely missed 

since last July. 

A hydrotherapy pool is really needed as the local Peterborough pool has closed down. I am a 

personal assistant for a lady who needs hydrotherapy but is unable to access it.

No

112



Looking forward to the refurbished centre

Keep the learner pool and do not have a moveable floor in the main swimming pool.

6 questions does not make a consultation!

I think its great that the leisure centre is going to be saved. A green area outside would also be 

good. One idea is a senses garden for people with disabilities ie lavender plants, herbs, wind 

chimes, windmills. 

There is is not much of a proposal to read through in this questionnaire, will there still use of a 

cafe? 

No

I think the proposals are a very welcome investment particularly for the health and well-being of 

local  Children.

I had used the leisure centre for many years with my children, I will definitely start using it again 

when it re opens.

Not seen the details of the proposal. We desperately need this facility in the region. Would like 

swimming lessons for children to recommence as well

No 

No

No

I have recently moved to the area and haven’t had a chance to use the centre yet.The centre 

needs to be repaired quickly so I can use the facilities before I get too old and unfit!

we do not need gym space. keep the learner pool

The proposed 80 station Gym could badly affect the existing privately owned Gyms already in 

operation in the Deepings, and therefore the people already employed in them.

It’s important having a swimming pool so our children can learn how to swim

Please keep the separate small training pool for young children as it is better for them to learn in

Keep learner pool  Continue to source a location for new leisure centre

I would like a learner pool as I feel this is important, a pool with a raising bottom seems like a 

waste of money and is bound to break down.

Only need 20 fitness stations. Need to retain the squash courts. Need to retain the learner pool.

Non 

No

The NK centre north hykham is the sister site to deepings and they have made there centre 

amazing with enhancements I’m hoping that Skdc will follow suit with there plans 

I really would like this project to go ahead ASAP for the benefit of the ever growing Deepings.

I personally love anything to do with swimming and I believe it to be one of the best forms of 

exercise. I've been lucky to spend many years travelling and surfing and one thing I've learnt is 

having the ability to swim even at a basic level can be a life saving skill that all children should be 

able to have the opportunity to learn. 

113



The briefing paper said this pool is hoped to compliment the existing facilities at Bourne, 

Stamford and Grantham. I sincerely hope it will be better than Bourne and Stamford as the 

facilities there and in an appaling state.  The community desperately needs a good swimming 

pool. And having some family swim activities with inflatables would be great. 

What about the AstroTurf pitches?

Proposed timescales for giving us back our swimming and other sports facilities are far too long 

winded.  I will have missed YEARS of swimming through no fault of my own!!!!!!!!! Health is 

affected by lack of local swimming facility.

I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment.

 "I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment."

This consultation very limited and does not give the opportunity to comment on the plans. A 

seperate learner pool is valuable. deeping does not need another 80 fitness stations. 

No

Removing the smaller learning pool will be to the detriment of users of the main pool and 

discourage use

Why so much space for spectators. Would prefer a larger pool. 

No

The proposals have been made without any consultation of the needs of the population of the 

Deepings.  This is not all surprising as SKDC is definitely Grantham orientated in it's outlook. The 

outlying districts (particularly The Deepings) are regularly ignored.  Bourne and Stamford are the 

only areas that are ever usually considered, apart from Grantham.

I have been a member of Bannatynes gym for 16 years and spent thousands, cancelled 

membership in lockdown.  I now wish to spend those thousands at Deeping leisure.  The leisure 

centre was the reason I wanted to move to Deeping.  My children are grown up and became life 

guards after starting swimming lessons at 2 years old.  I honestly think it made them better 

adults, and fitter.  I love zumba and dancing and badminton.  It is fantastic for the community, as 

a young mum its where I made friends, that I still value today.  Please please please in the days 

when lots of people have mental issues this hub of our town is essential.  All the new houses 

being being built it could be a money making as well.  WIN WIN

You MUST retain the training/learner pool. Junk the 200 sq. metre 'studios' if necessary.

I feel the learner pool should be retained. A movable floor in main pool is expensive and needs 

more maintenance . Plus it limits use in main pool which was often crowded before with 

swimming club usage.

It would be unnecessary to remove the learner pool in my opinion.  

There needs to be a learner pool, not some over priced gadget to raise and lower the floor of a 

larger pool.  A large hall area that can be used for community events as well as sports would be of 

use.  A larger gym area isn't required, retain the learner pool. Please listen to what local people 

need, not what consultants think we may want!

No

I've in past liked taking my Grandchildren swimming at the leisure center

114



Please get on with it.  This has been discussed million of times over the last 20 years, and for the 

15 yrs I was a parish councillor, all to no avail.  Now we have NOTHING.  V V Poor

As a badminton player, the court facilities and changing rooms are most important, but I also like 

to swim when I have opportunity

I think a separate pool would be better for learning to swim. A moveable floor seems like an 

unnecessary and expensive gimmick. This is likely to reduce the available timetable for lane 

swimming as well as family swimming. I can’t see how this could ever be a good idea and the way 

it was with two separate pools would be a better use of money. 

A leisure centre is a key amenity within the community for all ages - it’s closure has impacted my 

family preventing my children the opportunity to swim, exercise, access out of school schemes 

and enjoy recreational activities. A functioning centre is critical and needs to be delivered quickly!

What a waste this all is if you had done your duty and maintained the building we wouldn’t be 

without these vital facilities.

It is difficult to give my full opinion on proposed facilities given that the questions have been 

about what already seems to have been decided on rather than asking what facilities I would like 

or would like to retain from the existing leisure centre. New isn't always better.

No

There is no mention of the squash courts, as such I assume they will be removed which would be 

a huge disappointment 

This needs to hashish since rather than later as its costing us physically, mentally and financially.

I don’t see any design features apart from the front of the building, why is there no design 

information or architects view of the refurb/ remodelling… you are asking residents to comment 

based on a few basic questions… this doesn’t seem like a consultation at all, more of a tiny activity 

survey about what activities a resident may like to use…..very basic indeed and not a public 

consultation at all.     It’s very important that the work to be done is scheduled in phases so that 

for example the sports hall is completed first and the the sports hall can be removed, also the 

projected delivery date of 2025 I have read is far far too long to take. It should be completed by 

the end of 2023 very early 2024 at the latest because already clubs are already going elsewhere 

for facilities and more will if the refurb takes as long as indicated.    The refurb process needs 

Please do not remove the learner pool the opportunities on this for learning to swim as a family, 

introduction to water, lessons and local primary school lessons is limitless 

Changing rooms need to be easy to  Use and maintain

The loss of the leisure centre has greatly increased our families weekly/monthly expenses as we 

now have to travel further afield for our children's swimming lessons and sports clubs. A new 

centre cannot come soon enough. 

There isn't any mention of any all weather pitches.  Although I only used the Leisure occasionally 

when it closed in July 21.  My sons football team regularly trained on the all weather pitch before 

it was condemed in 2019.  Since then the teams have all had to find alternative space on 3G 

pitches nearby.  Mostly in the Peterborough area where there seem to be many more all weather 

pitches than we have here in South Lincs.   This should also be a high priority for the new Leisure 

Centre Facilities.

115



Why is there no mention of the outdoor football pitch? The area is desperate for a 3G all weather 

pitch for football.

This is such an important part of the community, luckily we drive so have continued swimming 

lessons at bourne but we know many children who have not been able to. There is not a nearby 

sports centre or pool that you can walk to or drive to easily.

Fix the roof now and get us back in the building! 2025 is never going to happen

Don't feel like this consultation is giving me much choice. What about roller skating, table tennis, 

basket ball or the ability to have concerts in the main sports hall.

Why no squash courts? Is the rumour that you are removing the children's pool correct? if so that 

seems daft as it was very well used and allowed competent swimmers to properly use the main 

pool without worrying about non-swimmers.  No mention of a cafe or bar? That would be a 

shame if there was not one.

It is important to get the centre reopened as soon as possible.

With the vast increase in population in the Deepings I do not understand how this rejigging of an 

old small Leisure Centre will feed the appetite of our present population.

More daytime access, especially to the pool please.

We would use the pool for baby and toddler swimming 

I cannot answer clearly as the survey does not provide supporting information about what is 

proposed and what will be changed or lost. 

I'm not sure what these questions/answers are giving you, and this appears to just be a paper 

exercise that you can say, well we did a survey. It's obvious from these questions you are not 

thinking about what us, the users of the leisure centre want or need.    I believe this questionnaire 

is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-determined choices and does not 

fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of the proposed refurbishment.    

Maybe you should think again and actually provide the Deepings with what the people in the 

Deepings and nearly areas want.    

I think it may be worth reducing the size of studios and gym to accommodate for a small learner 

pool. As there are many available studios already in deeping and I think a gym of around 50 

capacity would be sufficient 

This survey is flawed, the questions are leading and no survey is being carried out at all.

No need for the centre, Bourne and Stamford are local why not invest in them instead 

I strongly believe it is essential to have two pools, the 25x10m big pool and a trainer pool. This is 

to provide lessons for a greater number of students at any one time and allow a safer place for 

non swimmers to learn or adult non swimmers a place where they feel confident in taking their 

own children.  

Desperately missed!

No

The problem previously is that the public had very little chance for swimming. The pool was 

monopolised by the Swimming Club and the School. When the refurbishment is completed can 

the Centre be managed so that the public can swim at a reasonable time, everyday.   Some 

people cannot use the gym equipment to help keep them fit, but would benefit from swimming 

which is a none weight bearing exercise. 

Nope

No

116



I hope the  refurbishment also includes totally refurbishing the changing rooms/toilets and 

afterwards employing proper cleaning staff so that the facilities are kept to a high standard not as 

they were previously. Please keep the childrens pool. Maintenance will be essential too so that 

the money spent is not a waste 

I believe that the referbishment needs to include a learner pool. This is s growing community and 

young children need to learn separately from the main pool area. 

Removing the learner pool is a very poor move but like everything to do with this debacle the 

council will do what ever they want.   Hang your heads in shame SKDC, poor maintenance, poor 

planning, poor survey - at least you’re consistent!

Would be great if courts could be hired for badminton again. 

I want to see a centre which caters for the growing retired community in this area, a social hub as 

well as fitness with daytime swimming free of children. Jacuzzi please. 

Deeping needs this we don’t have much else and a healthy hub to encourage all ages to 

participate in sports meetings etc is essential 

I believe something should be done quickly as the children in the local primary schools are not 

getting their usual swimming lessons at school which is an important life skill. 

Would also use for family swimming & lessons for my children 3m & 2yr old currently travelling 

out of Deeping for swimming lessons & family swim session, same with fitness facilities. We live 

walking distance from the closed leisure centre 

We need facilities for young children to play and get used to water.ie retain children's pool. We 

do not need larger gym given private gyms in Deeping and do not need such a large viewing 

gallery. Also, I cannot see anything about maintenance costs. We need to minimise this as this has 

caused the issues that have close the current facility.

I really feel that the learner pool should be retained, I learnt to swim there myself and it was 

really important to be able to have a smaller and more shallow space to teach younger children to 

swim without the currents of older children. 

Don’t need 80 station gym. Probably half the size. It is essential that the children’s pool is kept to 

aid young children’s swimming development. All work must start ASAP!

Schools are suffering with teaching swimming so this would be a welcome addition 

I do not understand the feasibility of a ‘moveable’ pool floor. Entertainment space with a 

projector for film nights could add additional revenue.

"I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment."

The leisure centre should never have been allowed to get in a condition where it needed to be 

closed. Deeping needs and deserves a leisure facility and so i welcome any new facility but there 

should be consequences for those involved in allowing the leisure centre to have to be closed in 

the first place. 

No

117



  I thought the whole point was that you were providing as a council a new facility. This facility 

would be state-of-the-art and be much more accessible for parents, children and people with 

various disabilities. The old facility is just that old ‘ 50 years old’ . You as a council told us at the 

last election we needed a new one and you had the money to provide us with one. I think you’ve 

already heard from the people of deeping . They have already strongly expressed the desire and 

need for a new facility. we were told we were getting a new facility that’s exactly what we want a 

new facility. We have the second highest ratio of swimmers were attending weekly lessons only 

slightly less numbers than Grantham.1300 children used to swim each week using swim school.    

You should be providing a weekly swimming lesson  as outlined in the school curriculum that 

states this as a subject.    The Deeping leisure centre was second in the ratings after Grantham at 

the amount of people that used the pool each week to swim.      Give us what the people of 

Deeping want and more importantly need. A new functioning up to date facility to be proud of 

and something to show for our enormous yearly council tax charge we are all paying.   

The learner pool still needs to stay and the gym doesn’t need to be any bigger as most gym goers 

would go to specialist gym not a leisure centre. I was really looking forward to bring my soon to 

the pool where I learnt to swim and by removing the learner pool you are reducing the number of 

lessons that can be taught at any one time as you could have 4 groups in the pool currently. 

Online booking systems are key to survival, I have had a you tube video of Deeping leisure centre 

of many years where the phone was not answered.

I don't feel like this survey gives me much option to express my choice for use of the leisure 

centre. I would like to stress how important i think having a seperate learner pool is, i would also 

like to have a large funtion room for party hire with a cafe, roller skating would be a great added 

bonus

We really need an astro like at else park. This would be used constantly

The sooner this is done the better. The Deepings and the Deepings school need the leisure centre. 

It has needed renovation for years so it is shocking how it was left to deteriorate. 

I  am not sure the plans fit everyone's needs - for example I used the learner pool very regularly 

when my children were very young, but was glad of a separate pool when swimming as an adult. 

Also not sure if we really need more gym space? My family played various racket sports and 

martial arts and would again but not the gym, and we can't be the only ones. Aren't there other 

gyms locally?

No

I do t think the size of the gym is necessary and the pool is to ensure increased public swimming 

all day 

It would be useful if a hydrotherapy pool was included as there are no public pools at all in 

Lincolnshire that I know of . Also I think it’s very important to keep the toddler pool. Why do we 

need a movable floor in the main pool?   

No

We need the leisure centre to be available to all ages and local groups. I don't think a large gym is 

needed we have those available in the Deepings a smaller version yes. 

Need a shallow “baby” pool too

Nothing is mentioned about the squash courts. It would be good to see these remain. 

Needs to resolve any parking issues with the school for use during the day.  Cafe to focus on 

healthy, nutritious food.  Would like to see integration with the sports fields (shared us of 

changing, outdoor equipment/trim trail etc.

Keep the learner pool.  reduce the fitness provision.  sprung wooden floor in sportshall.

118



I hope that the leisure centre can be brought back tk the state it was in a few years ago.. At that 

point we used it weekly at least but dilapidation meant we looked elsewhere for facilities 

I dont think 80 gym stations is nessaccerry and what about a learners pool? You ate excluding a 

large amount of young members of the community

If thats all the survey is its disappointing.  What about squash courts etc :(

Where has the money gone that was set aside for the new facility we were promised by 

Councillor Barry Dobson?

Plan looks great: just what we need in Market Deeping

The centre is in walking distance to the whole community and should absolutely be refurbished. 

I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment."I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or 

disagree with some pre-determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what 

is changing as part of the proposed refurbishment.

Please include decent coffee shop. 

This is not a consultation, just a simple questionnaire, to rubberstamp what you've already 

decided. I find this disrespectful of the community. As the people who allowed the current centre 

to deteriorate to its current level of disrepair, can we get assurances from you that the 

refurbished site will be properly and regularly maintained to a high level? For the record, I feel 

that the council's actions in this affair have been shambolic, wasteful and not supportive of the 

community they claim to represent. Shameful!!

Preferably with fixed blocks and moveable floor! 

Will the still be a cafe ? The learner pool should be kept 

A more graphic drawing or repsentation of the first proposals will have helped to comprehend the 

options and constraints

The Leisure centre is vital for the health and wellbeing of all the community and needs to be 

accessible as soon as possible

It's not fair on the community to have to wait a whole year for construction to start on something 

that's already been approved by the council and will go ahead regardless of the comments and 

"consultation"

Do not think that 80 station gym is needed 

I would have used the pool if there was still the small teaching pool that was completely separate 

to the main pool for toddler and baby swimming. At other local facilities that are combined pools, 

it's usually too cold and crowded for little ones. 

Do not understand why it will take so long to put a new roof on. I am a disabled pensioner who 

uses both Bourne and Stamford centres, will use deeping if you get on with it. Ta

119



Not about the proposal but I didn't use it prior to closure due to the condition of facilities. 

However I did use it alot when I was younger and in better condition 

It would be nice if a hydrotherapy pool was included in the proposal this could be put where the 

toddler pool is and a smaller toddler pool in the same area 

Removal of the teaching pool to put in chairs for people to sit on their backsides?  Really???     

just give the people of the area, who are the ones paying for this through our taxes, not the 

council, facilities that are clean and accessible to all but most importantly at a cost where people 

can afford to use them on a regular basis   

The people of Deeping have been neglected and our children are suffering. The neglect and 

contempt has been staggering. The lies of a new leisure centre and false promises are a disgrace. 

Whilst the redevelopment will help, it’s not what is required. And it is still years away. Hopefully 

this will be reflected at election time. Shame on SKDC and SK leisure 

I don’t think an 80 station gym is needed as it was never at full capacity before and had fewer 

stations.   A learner pool is a must.   Studios for classes a must  Swimming pool beginning available 

to public more during the day would be nice. 

My girls have really missed out on swimming since it’s closure and we would really welcome it 

opening again 

I believe the removal of the learner pool is a mistake based upon the fact it is a safe separate pool 

away from the larger, daunting mass of water for some learners. It currently allows for non 

swimmers to aspire to 'move up' to the main pool. I have used the pool at Louth in North 

Lincolnshire and whilst I understand Louth is one of the national centres for swimming, this 

should be considered as the model for The Deepings.  Whilst I live closer to Bourne than Deeping, 

I would use the Deepings pool over Bourne based upon its size, it is the only large swimming pool 

in the area and not a fun pool.

Don’t remove the learner pool. This is a very important feature and, from years of experience 

with my own kids, is invaluable when leading to swim. 

Please get the swimming pool up and running asap 

Family changing rooms to be added 

I don’t think a massive gym is necessary - prior to being closed the small gym was plenty big 

enough. It would be a real shame to lose the learner pool - the pool wasn’t open to the public 

enough anyway. With the learner pool gone it will restrict use of the main  Pool even more. 

The removal of the learner pool is a huge disappointment, prior to moving to deeping, we 

travelled from Stamford just for the learner pool when our daughter was younger to give her the 

confidence in water she now has. This would be a huge loss to Deeping 

I’m really pleased the centre is being refurbished as we have a young family and want to ensure 

they can access local swimming and a gym for us parents! 

Swimming is priority and should have better hours for public use. The swim club so amazing and 

deserve the hours, but public swim times were very very limited compared to other pools locally.     

The centre was poorly managed for several years with staff as big a reason as the facilities for not 

using it. Make sure staff are being measured on quality of service as well as the new kit installation

120



The proposed time to complete is too long. My children are already suffering by not having this 

option available to them

The leisure centre is a must for the town, we need it please. 

With £10 million, I believe a new, all purpose leisure centre should be built instead of throwing 

money at an already limited and aging site.     A multi use venue, collaborating with the local 

football and rugby clubs, incorporating sports fields and social facilities (see PRSA in Boston!) 

would benefit the community and 'future proof ' the facilities so much more than redeveloping 

the existing site.     And if this cannot be achieved with £10 million, then an overhaul of the local 

authority tender system needs to be implemented immediately. 

OAP,s definitely need option to use during the day. I would like to see and support a Table Tennis 

facility for OAP,s during the daytime.

It needs to be done quicker 

Climbing wall or something different that is not in deeping already.  Indoor surfing, table tennis, 

water polo 

The most important thing is the cleanliness of any future leisure facility, the old centre was 

woefully lacking in maintenance and general cleaning making it unattractive and a health hazard 

for visitors 

Please don’t cut corners , deepings deserve top spec for a growing population that needs to be 

futures proofed 

It would be nice to have a local swimming pool and gym equip available 

Seems to be a fait a complies rather than a genuine consultation. A wider survey of community 

needs should be undertaken

My problem in the past had been the very restrictive times the pool was open to the public.

This is not acceptable. A growing town of our size need a designated leisure centre and pools 

which are not just tacked into the side of a school. The proposal is not large enough or diverse 

enough in its scope to support a town with so much new housing development. Not fit for 

purpose.

The price of using the facilities will need to remain affordable as per prior to the closure

80 gym stations is too many.  It was never at full capacity when I used the Gym pre covid

Please priorities the refurbishment of the Leisure Centre asap. This is a great asset to the 

community and has severally affected my own physical and mental health. 

This refurbishment needs to be done imminently. The swimming pool is the priority. My sons 

mental health has been effected by losing this facility for so long. Dont get rid of the learner pool. 

Its perfect for all children for this ever growing town!

Hurry up with this please - my children are growing up fast without the facilities they need 

To ensure disabled people have access to the leisure centre. 

Please ensure there is weekday public use of the pool not just available for the school 

No

No

School swimming is a priority to provide pupils with an invaluable life skill

No

This needs to happen urgently.

121



Would be such a shame to lose a fantastic place

Please keep the learner pool for the children.  Please make the centre more available to the 

general public throughout the week

Due to closure my children have had to attend Stanford swimming pool, this is a fun pool. As a 

result my oldest child has not progressed in area of speed and distance swimming . Considering 

ending his membership. We have previously attended weekly swimming sessions for two children 

for over ten years using the Deepings leisure centre. 

Personally feel am 80 station gym is excessive given the facility the leisure centre had before and 

that we have a number of independent gyms in the area. Disappointed that the learner pool is not 

being included. This is shortsighted in my opinion and much needed. Taking this away will impact 

on the use of the main pool which is already limited due to school and swimming club use.

Would do something extra for family time (like in Bourne leasure centre).

Don't  think necessary to have 80 gym stations, 40 plenty.

The time scale to completion is a key factor. We used to go swimming every weekend and be able 

to walk to the pool. Now we have to drive to either Stamford or Bourne.   Also our daughter had 

missed out on swimming lessons with school due to Covid. Now she is missing out because the 

Leisure centre is closed. 

Like the retractable pool, works very well at oundle school as an example to make best use of 

space

Taking away the learner pool would be a major mistake. This is an area where young children and 

babies start learning how to swim and do so in the hope that if they were to ever get in trouble in 

water they would have a better chance in surviving. Seeing as the deepings contains the river 

wellend if they are not given the opportunity and children are harmed/die SKDC would have 

blood on there hands.     Also in terms of business Deepings swim school was the most successful 

out of the 4 and brought in the greatest revenue, getting rid of the learner pool decreases the 

lessons at the same time decreasing the profit and decreases who can use the pool as younger 

swimmers can not be in the big pool it’s simply unsafe.     Get the roof fixed and the leisure centre 

open now. Listen to the people who voted you in.     Sincerely,  A EVERYDAY user of the leisure 

centre 

We need a decent swimming pool, not just one for children with a wave machine. Squash courts 

included and sauna/steams rooms would be good. 

N/A.

We always booked a badminton court every Sunday morning and have really missed it as well as 

taking the kids swimming frequently

The facilities were busy always and we need this asap 

It would be amazing to have an updated and remodelled centre   I used to pay to have a private 

gym but stopped going as can’t afford it  Happy to swim and have access to a gym that is more 

local, albeit with a cost  The local community needs a sports and swim centre  Especially given this 

supposed “government” is supportive of this 

Keep the training pool, mixing swimmers with learners will scare youngsters and give swimmers 

less pool space.  This is a poor survey, it’s asking to approve the SKDC vision,not asking what we 

want or need.

122



Please don’t get rid of the learner pool!!!!!!! 

I am concerned that by losing the learner pool you are reducing the amount of swimming space 

available for swim school lessons as well as for general swimming. I can see many occasions when 

a significant part of the main pool is reduced in depth for a large amount of time thus reducing 

the ability to be able to swim 25m as well as reducing the amount of space available for the 

higher swim school stages.

Broken promises and a poor compromise to refurbish, this whole exercise has been a great show 

of ineptitude. An expensive, unnecessary complex and time consuming adaptable floor pool when 

the current 2 pools work just fine. 

Please do the refurbishment ASAP as I feel both my physical and mental have deteriorated greatly 

since it’s close . Thank you . 

Children need to learn to swim in order to use the adult pool removing the children's learning 

pool would be stupidity 

The family swim sessions have been hugely missed as has the sports hall to play badminton with 

my family.

I would like a smaller gym and a cafe facility.i think the social aspect of meeting up before/after a 

session is important for general well-being and adds greatly to the experience. The social 

interaction also makes people more likely to return.imo.

Please ensure the leisure centre is modern and inviting so it will attract people in. Plenty of good 

facilities without cutting corners. 

Learner pool so it doesn't impact on main pool

I strongly think the learner pool should stay especially as I think the 150 seater stand will be a 

total waste of time and money as the people that would use this is the spectators of the 

swimming club galas and as Deeping Swimming Club have now secured superior long term 

swimming at another venue I’m not sure who would use it.  Another point is that if you keep the 

learner pool you will be able to attract two different types of swimmers at the same time 

whereas if you put in a retractable floor it can only be used by learners when it’s raised. It just 

doesn’t make sense.  The gym certainly is a good idea, especially with the added attraction of 

being able to use the swimming pool.  None of the gyms in Market Deeping have this option

N/A

Our entire family has used the leisure centre over the past 22 years. We have missed it and have 

lost health and fitness because of its closure. We welcome it’s reopening 

I think it would be a real shame to lose the learner pool it is what sets it apart from other pools in 

the area for swimming lessons. 

This is an asset to the local community which is sorely missed

The sooner the better!

No

Disappointing that SKDC has backtracked from its original promise of a new build leisure centre. 

The council members responsible should bow their heads in shame - they are unfit for office. 

123



Losing the facility of the learner pool would be detrimental to many young users, one large pool 

(despite its technology of being able to become shallow and deeper) will be overwhelming to 

many smaller children.  The swim schools were also often oversubscribed with waiting lists for the 

lower  stage (beginner) classes of which 2 ran regularly within the learner pool (the clue being in 

the name) adding them all to one pool will cause further wait times.  Having public family sessions 

in one pool will also cause issues with some people trying to swim length and others width 

No

I would like to see the small lounge area used for children's parties together with the comfortable 

seats at the doorway end still available

Not want the community want, consult locals!

There should be a pool for those learning to swim & toddlers 

Just get the work started and the centre back open quickly 

I strongly feel the pool should primarily cater for teaching and training purposes. Not only does 

The Deepings Swim Club need great facilities with the town expanding with new housing a pool is 

urgently required.

No

Deeping really need this! As a primary school teacher we desperately need swimming lessons 

again and as a parent, my son will love to access the centre again! 

Get cracking on the 80-station gym

 Can we have a slide in the pool for the children?

Retain the learner pool and ensure sufficient depth for quality swimming.

I think it is very important to keep the learner pool. As a former swimming teacher there until it’s 

closer I taught the 3 and 4 year olds in it and is ideal to introduce children of that age to 

swimming, also it is needed so parents can take their babies and toddlers there to swim the big 

pool is too big for that age group they can’t cope with the size of it

I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking that I agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment. 

Please keep up the repairs and cleanliness. It was left to ruin. I hadn’t visited for over five years 

due to the facility being run down, dirty and not cared for 

Hurry up.

No

No

124



With  alternative Gym facility availability nearby I feel that 80 stations are not needed and the 

space saving could be better deployed . I also feel that a learner pool should be retained to enable 

young children to gain confidence in a small user friendly environment. 

Needs a junior pool

The Deepings is in desperate need of a large meeting hall for  large groups like U3A and talks and 

lectures

Just want it open again, offers so much to so many people locally 

Facilities for children must be paramount…… they are our future and learning to swim and have 

fun in safe shallow water is a must.

Very pleased to hear that the leisure centre will be reopening for the Deepings

Access to the pool is important to mine and my family's mental well-being and health

Ido not feel full consideration has been given to a learner pool.  There needs to a transition pool 

for youngsters to gain confidence.  A rising floor is a huge expense and like all thing mechanical 

are prone to breakdowns and faults.  A separate pool is more simplistic.  I am aware that this will 

limit the scope for other facilities.

The refurbished leisure centre does not need a 80 station gym space . 20 /30 stations would be 

sufficient and the extra space could be utilised else where 

I don’t think 80 stations gym is required. Previous gym with a quarter of that number has not had 

a full occupancy. 50% of the proposal would be sufficient.

All work to be completed asap.  Learner Pool to be retained.  Question mark on adjustable floor 

level.

Doesn’t need so many gym stations. Provide more rooms for community groups 

Disagree wholeheartedly with the removal of the training pool. This is an invaluable resource for 

the local community. Whilst installing a raising floor to the large pool would be a good option,  for 

a new build, in my opinion this is a huge waste of money. This money would be better spent 

refurbishing the facilities as is.

Very disappointed in this survey, the local community has not been consulted in what the 

community needs are. This questionaire does not provide enough detailed information on what is 

being lost or changed as part of the refurbishment and the questions only offer very limited 

options to respond to.

No

No

We desperately really need a separate toddler pool. There should not be one big pool and no 

little one. The current leisure centre struggled to meet demand with the big and small and your 

plan offers just the big without the small. This would be a step backwards. 

We need this more than ever in the climate that we are starting to come out of! People's mental 

health and well being have been greatly affected!  But has been made worse by the closure of the 

Leisure centre. Not being able to have  access   to the facilities thus enabling us to all get back our 

fitness levels is frustrating and therefore adds more stress and not give us  the drive & positive 

outlook we had prior to the closure! 

Please get a facility up and running as soon as possible.

125



I don’t think an 80 station gym is necessary would be better to lose 2 squash courts and keep 2 

and allow for 40 station gym

Is a refurbishment the best use of council money rather than the development of a new state of 

the art leisure centre?

I would be much more likely to visit if they keep the smaller childrens pool

80 station gym is unnecessary.  There are gyms of this size already available in the community.  40 

stations would provide 100% up grade.    It is vital for young children and SEND to have a smaller 

learner pool to feel safe to learn how to swim. A raised floor in a large pool, does not create this 

safety for young swimmers or SEND. The water will be choppy and  the noise of the more 

advanced lessons will make it difficult for young learners to hear their teacher. I fear this option 

will stop learners joining the swim school at stage 1,  which will impact pool foot fall over time.   

The cafe created the meeting point which so many members of the public needed to draw them 

into the centre.  This social space thrived with parents during swimming lessons, young people 

socialising and could become a community meeting point of centre hours are more not based 

around the schools demands.  The cafe needed upgrading, it must not be lost. 

No

Where are the squash courts and Table Tennis in the refurb.

I would like there to be a learner pool separately available from the main pool.

It's a vital facility in the Deepings not only for the schools use but for the general public . Sports 

and leisure can dissuade young and youths from going down the road of rebellion and destruction 

on the community for having no alternative to vent their energies in a positive and constructive 

enviroment.

Keeping the learner pool for very young children to give them confidence in the water without 

having adults jostling them and the large expanse of a regular sized pool frightening them.

Learning pool is extremely important….

I believe that this consultation is flawed and asks me to choose predetermined options without 

explaining what will no longer be available eg the learner pool and what has changed eg a larger 

gym. I would like to be consulted on what should be included.

Deeping NEEDS this! 

The facilities were used extensively when I was younger and is a necessity in the Deepings area, 

especially for the swimming and use of the sports hall for badminton. I return with my family to 

use the facilities when visiting my parents who are local.

How has the decision to increase the gym size & large hall been made?

I think the children's pool needs to be much better and warmer for the children. It was freezing 

cold and not suit suitable for babies under 2. There also needs to be more clubs and activities for 

children under 5 years old. 

I think it is important that the needs of the community are taken into account. We don’t need 

gym space (Deeping has this) but a children’s pool and a community cafe are vital. 

126



the pool is the main attraction of the centre it needs to be fit for purpose incl a learning pool 

It would be good to have access to pool facilities that are as good (if not better) than other clubs 

in the county/area.

No

Ensure that there is availability for the general public at sensible times. Not just early morning and 

evenings. 

Pool temperature is renowned for being freezing at Deeping. Please can this be sorted.

Please get the leisure centre reopen as soon as possible. 

As a family with a toddler aged child swimming is an essential part of family together time and 

fitness long with a life skill. The pool access is of prime interest to us. The gym will be good for us 

as a couple and I expect with a modern facility we could look to use the centre for children's 

parties. 

Where are the squash courts going to be? 

Keep the learner pool for swimming lessons 

the loss of the beginners pool seems rather short sighted.

You can't do without a learner pool, how can kids start swimming?  Totally unsatisfactory, this 

should be prioritized above meeting rooms and the like

The leisure center has been invaluable to both my immediate and extended family. It is important 

to save these facilities at a time when many services which are a lifeline for families are closing 

because funding has been withdrawn.

No

Open the studios or rooms adjoining to the school until work begins so fitness classes can at list 

resume 

The best way to fulfill the requirements for swimming is to increase the size of the pool.  6 lanes 

do not give flexibility to split the pool when the swim club are using it.  The proposal should be for 

an 8 lane pool similar to other new or refurbished pools in the county.  Reducing spectator 

capacity is also a nonsense as it reduces the ability to organise galas and bring further income into 

the centre.

Such a development will be great for the community

My kids miss swimming since we have moved and having a pool close by would help encourage 

them to swim. It would help us have a more active family life too

Myself and my children attended martial arts classes at the leisure centre before it was closed 

which, since closing I have not been able to continue. To have this facility again in the Deepings 

would not only give that special family time back to me but also countless families throughout the 

area.

Deeping doesn't really need a leisure centre as it has one at Bourne, Stamford and Peterborough     

  The funds could be better used elsewhere

I don't believe the learner pool should be removed as it is important as part of the community 

pool

A 25m competitive pool is a must and not a leisure pool (similar to Bourne) 

We really need a space where children can access swimming lessons in the Deepings.

127



The learner pool should remain as is important. By installing a highly expensive movable floor , is 

not required and will only decrease the size of the Main pool when lessons are taking place which 

is the total opposite to what the community needs. Keep the swimming area as it is , put a 

mezzanine level over the learner pool if gym space is required, but an 80 station gym is excessive 

and wasting yet more money that could be better spent . 40 would be sufficient and protect other 

local businesses. 

The pool is an invaluable resource for families, children and local primary schools.  Local primaries 

are currently having to bus their children to Stamford & Bourne for swimming lessons which is 

costing parents and schools for coach travel.

The Deeping area is in desperate need of a 3g football pitch. The many local teams of all ages are 

having to travel as far as Stanground to train in the winter months when available. Also having to 

arrange games in Bourne for home matches when possible

A swimming facility for family use is really important to the local area. A fun pool would also be a 

really welcome addition 

The revised Main hall needs to ensure there are cricket nets built into the structure which will 

include suitable lighting. Market Deeping CC who are in the Lincs Premier League currently have 

to train in Stamford School which is not acceptable. Other local clubs in the area would alos use 

these facilities regularly 

The failure to provide a standalone learner pool will significantly limit the value of the 

replacement facility to Deeping residents, particularly children. A moveable floor will simply not 

provide the capacity required to service demand for swimming lessons along side other pool 

users such as Deepings Swimming Club. Demand for swimming lessons should not permanently 

be serviced at Bourne or Stamford Leisure pools which are not suitable facilities for hosting 

effective swimming lessons do to their design.

It's an important building

the remodleing  needs to make sure that all areas are assisible  to all users  and all ablilties  

including  mobility challenged  and disabled people   that includes  the gym and the swimming 

pool   with provision for get from the changing rooms to the pool and into the pool  with non slip 

surfaces  for people that use walking sticks   ,  for the gym all the  equipment  needs to be on one 

level   with wide doorsways and easy to open doors  if there are different  areas    and if there are 

areas on a second  floor  there needs to be a working lift   ,   on the putside there needs to be a 

good carpark  with a good  surface   and  provision for disabled car parking places teh car park also 

need to be well lit for when the centre is used after dark times  think thats enough  for the time 

being    thank you for asking and good luck in getting  the work done  

In my view this should have been a temporary solution to get the centre reopened as soon as 

possible before investing in a larger centre that is more fit for purpose.   The Deepings continue to 

grow with more and more houses but less and less facilities to cater for this growth.   The council 

really need to consider this rather than congratulating themselves for 'listening to the people' and 

they have simply put a plaster over something that they have responsibility for and oversaw years 

of neglect and lack of investment.   A requirement for well-being, physical and mental health 

should be a centre that all can use at all times and caters for the population it serves.

This is a valuable resource for  school - aged children to take swimming lessons both in school and 

with private lessons. The amount of new housing estates being given planning permission this will 

be ludicrous to not upgrade this resource for the Deepings and surrounding areas for sure. 

128



There isn’t the scope in this consultation to give alternative answers or opinions that don’t fit into 

the prescribed boxes. This will lead to confirmation bias in the survey answers and doesn’t cover 

the full scope of what people want or need. Where are the options for additional facilities not 

mentioned? 

It’s highly needed, especially with all the additional houses that are being built in the Deeping 

right now. 

A training pool is needed for swim schools and parents with young children.   This 

"refurbishment" needs to be completed within a year as the residents of market deeping have 

already had thier mental and physical well being negatively affected for long enough by closing 

the centre instead of being proactive and maintaining the centre as it should have been.

you are proposing facilities that are not needed

It is essential that the residents in and around Deeping have access to somewhere where the 

benefit of health and welbeing can be an essential part of their lives given that there are so many 

obese people on the GP ,'s register.

Where’s the learner  pool, we do not need more gym stations .

Needs completing ASAP for the community now and future generations locally to have access to 

all leisure activities the centre can provide. 

We miss using the swimming pool at the Leisure Centre which has hindered our 6 year old son 

learning to swim

Swimming pool needs more for kids todo like a slide water fountain bit more like bourne pool kids 

why would people come here when there is nothing for the kids todo?! Also the pool will need 

better heating I stopped taking my children due to it being so cold they got blue lips 

.

Please go ahead and do not close the center. Deeping is a big place and we deserve facilities for 

family and children.

Considering no where attached to this consultation is the current SKDC plans for the leisure 

centre I find it very difficult to answer question 2. I also feel the lack of other alternatives  to what 

the council think our leisure centre needs included in this consultation is disgraceful.  I do not 

believe we need an 80 station gym but I do believe we need to keep the learner pool. Where are 

the questions surrounding what we the public who will use it want? There aren't any. This 

consultation is just SKDC fobbing us off with what they think and pretending you gave us a voice. 

THIS IS NOT giving the residents of The Deepings and surrounding villages a voice. This is 

disgraceful.

The learner pool should remain.  80 stations for a gym is excessive as Deeping has several private 

gyms offering excellent facilities. 

No

It is disgusting it is taking so long to sort this. Children are missing out and its detrimental to them 

and mental health. Sort it out SKDC!

We would be very sad to lose the shallow, teaching pool.

i have a 7 who would be doing swimming lesson right now but cannot. 

129



Hurry up and open it, but make sure there's sufficient funding for ongoing maintenance and 

replacement 

None

Loss of the learner pool is shortsighted as it was often used for lessons by the Leisure Centre 

while the swimming club used the main pool.  If in future you just have a main pool the Leisure 

Centre will lose vital revenue and competition for the pool rife in a fast growing town. 

No

My family love using this centre and can’t wait to use it again

My family have used this centre since we moved here 15 years ago and are really missing using 

the facilities! 

As a teacher at a local primary school, where are our children going to learn to swim without the 

learner pool?

This needs to be implemented without delay. Our children are missing out on vital opportunities 

The planned facilities look great. In terms of service provision, kids classes would be great 

(swimming, gym, etc) for kids up to 16 years old.

There should be a learner pool, separate from main pool, why is there no mention of this here?

I’m no longer prepared to be excluded from using the facilities during school time

I moved to Deeping St James with the Leisure Centre a definite positive only for it to be closed the 

month before we made our move. Very disappointing so to have it up and running again would be 

brilliant. As I’m now 71 I hope it’s in time for me to use it😆

The moveable pool floor is a ludicrous and expensive idea. A learner pool is essential, why do 

away with it? 

Swimming lessons are a priority for children in the local area. Fitness and classes are also much 

needed in the Deepings. 

.

No

I think that it is important to have a training pool and a 25m pool. For anxious and beginner 

swimmers having a smaller pool is confidence building. 

Only didn't use as much as could never get to use as the schools always had access

School swimming sessions need to be available for pupils in primary schools around the area.

No

As Stamford and Bourne pools are leisure pools, it is essential that the Deepings pool remains as a 

laned swimming facility for those who cannot use a gym. 

We need a learner pool & we do not need the expensive sliding floor in the main pool.   This 

survey is very poor, & the info you published on this site is even poorer. 

130



Have funds been allocated for maintenance beyond completion of works?

Since moving to Deeping I havnt been able to use the pool, we had our first child before it closed. 

So we are currently finding it difficult to get her classes or pool time. We will most probably have 

the same issues when the second child arrives looking at the build schedule 

The swimming pool needs to be configured to enable learner teaching as well as other uses. 

It would be an advantage if there were provisions so that the pool could be used my the public 

during the day, which has jot previously been possible due to school use

I used the pool regularly, I now have to travel to Spalding for timings that fit my schedule. Early 

morning swim session were ideal 

Whatever you decide. It needs to happen quickly. I have 3 10 year olds who cannot swim as per 

curriculum requirements. It's unacceptable that the people of the Deepings have been left in a 

position where they cannot access local sport and leisure facilities.

Need to keep the children’s/training pool

Need to ensure that all facility users pay, as evening/weekend staff previously allowed a very high 

% to use FOC. 

.

A swimming pool is lacking in the area now for actual swimming rather than a fun pool like 

Bourne and  Stamford. It would be great to have the facility back. Thanks 

I mainly used the centre for the 25m pool, but am keen to use other facilities as well such as spin 

classes

I do not agree with losing the toddler pool we are the only one in this area to have this facility and 

it is highly beneficial to all non swimmers 

no

Would it be better to invest the money in a brand new facility with better parking on the outskirts 

of deeping possibly in the industrial units to develop the area as the current location is too 

crowded

I learnt to swim in the small pool which is ideal for learning in. Getting rid of this will only cause 

more congestion for the use of the main pool, especially when classes are on. Even with a move 

able floor it takes pool space away and will impact on the children learning to swim the most who 

we should be supporting.

Would building a new leisure centre be more viable?

Looking forward to going back as a customer and swim teacher

A new building would be preferable as the school will most likely need to expand in the future. 

The current building is also inefficient and will require significant maintenance 

It used to the home of our successful swimming club but we've been forced to find  a new 

permanent home as this process is taking so long. It's possible we might still want to agree some 

pool time, but it is unlikely to be at previous levels so I hope the council is budgeting for this gap 

in its revenue 

I look forward to the new facilities and welcome the reopening 

A proper swimming pool, proper gym and a central area for team sports are a must !! Failure to 

deliver these is not an option 

No

Used another pool before because of the very restrictive times of public swimming in Deeping.  

131



This revamp is long overdue - a new leisure centre was actually promised and ANNOUNCED by the 

district council a few years ago. They need to follow through on the promise they made to the 

residents of the Deepings.

I believe this questionnaire is flawed as it is asking me to agree or disagree with some pre-

determined choices and does not fully explain what is being lost and what is changing as part of 

the proposed refurbishment.

This isn't a consultation. There is no mention of everything we are losing (inc. the learner pool). 

The gym is far too big - we already have a number of gyms in the immediate vicinity. This is just a 

device to get support for what SKDC want, NOT what the people of Deeping NEED.

I am concerned about the loss of the learner pool. I am also concerned about the cost and 

potential loss of pool time due to the movable floor.

132



133



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

135

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
29 March 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 5 April 2022 to 4 
April 2023 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  
 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)  

Tel: 01476 406156 

Email: Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Governance All Wards 
 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

6 April 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer) 

7 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the Council) 7 April 2022 
 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

139

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1. Cabinet’s Forward Plan 
 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

 (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 

 with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 

 publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to Council 

 or review the contents and take necessary action. These items are also listed on the Forward 

 Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 

 consideration during the preceding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. 

 The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the Council meetings 

 due to be held within the plan period. 

2.0 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

2.1 No implications.  

3.0 Appendices 

3.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet’s Forward Plan 

 

 

 

140



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
5 April 2022 to 4 April 2023 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 
 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

141



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Deeping Leisure Centre Final Scope - Key Decision 

An outline of the results of the independent 
consultation carried out. The 
recommendation from C & V Economy will 
detail the next steps in the project for 
consideration by Cabinet 
 

19 Apr 
2022 
 

To consider a 
recommendation from 
Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on the results of 
the public consultation 
regarding the proposed 
refurbishment of Deepings 
Leisure Centre 
 

Cabinet Member for Leisure (Councillor Barry 
Dobson) 
 
Assistant Director of Leisure 
E-mail: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Housing Compensation Policy - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek 
approval for the adoption of a 
compensation policy to be used across 
Housing Technical Services and Housing 
Services.  
 

24 May 
2022 
 

To approve the Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

To award contract in relation to Earlesfield project - Key Decision 

To outline the project and the budget 
required for the proposed works 
 

24 May 
2022 
 

To award contract 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 

142

mailto:karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Housing Recharge Policy - Key Decision 

Cabinet to confirm the Councils approach to 
the recovery of recharges within its social 
housing landlord function. 
 

 

24 May 
2022 
 

To approve policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Housing Allocations Policy - Key Decision 

A policy which sets out clear parameters as 
to how the housing options team manage 
the allocation of properties within our own 
stock and how support and advice is 
provided to applicants wishing to join the 
housing register. 
 

24 May 
2022 
 

To adopt a Housing 
Allocations Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Contract award for building materials supply - Key Decision 

To consider the contract award for building 
material supply in respect of council social 
housing consumption. 
 

24 May 
2022 
 

To award the contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North -  

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation. 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Director of Growth & Culture 
E-mail: nicola.mccoy-
brown@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

143

mailto:craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Review of the Street Trading Policy - Key Decision 

To consider proposed updates to the Street 
Trading Policy. 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve updates to the 
Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Street Collection and House to House Collection Policy - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed new Street 
Collection and House to House Collection 
Policy. 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve the Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Corporate Asset Management Strategy - Key Decision 

To consider a draft strategy defining the 
Council’s approach of the management of 
corporate property assets. 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve the strategy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing and Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

144

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Final Scope for the Refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre
	Appendix One Deepings Leisure Centre Consultation Report
	1. Executive summary
	2. Introduction
	3. Community engagement and consultation – the approach
	4. Community engagement and consultation – the delivery
	5. Results / findings of the public consultation
	6. Conclusion

	Appendix Two Full appendices - Deepings Leisure Centre
	Appendix Three summary of responses
	Appendix Four - Full breakdown of survey responses
	EXEMPT Appendix Five - Comparison of Options C and D

	6 Cabinet's Forward Plan
	Appendix


